

SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCES, HUMANITIES AND ARTS
DEPARTMENT OF INTERNATIONAL AND EUROPEAN STUDIES
MASTER'S DEGREE OF INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

Britain in psychological distress: The EU referendum and the psychological operations of the two opposing sides

By: Eleni Mokka

Professor: Spyridon Litsas

MIPA Thessaloniki, 2019 I hereby declare, that all the data used in this work, have been obtained and processed according to the rules of the academic ethics as well as the laws that govern research and intellectual property. I also declare that, according to the above mentioned rules, I quote and refer to the sources of all the data used and not constituting the product of my own original work.

Ezievn Mokka (Eleni Mokka)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	5
INTRODUCTION	6
CHAPTER ONE: OVERVIEW OF PSYCHOLOGICAL OPERATIONS	7
A. Definition and Analysis	7
B. Propaganda: Techniques involving Language Manipulation	11
1. Basic Propaganda Devices	11
2. Logical Fallacies	20
C. Propaganda: Non-Verbal Techniques	25
1. Opinion Polls	25
2. Statistics	32
CHAPTER TWO: BRITAIN'S EU REFERENDUM	34
A. Euroscepticism in Britain since 70's	34
B. Brexit vs. Bremain: Methods, Techniques and Rhetoric	43
1. Membership, Designation and Campaigns' Strategy	44
1.a. 'Leave' Campaign	44
1.b. 'Remain' Campaign	50
1.c. Labour In for Britain	52
1.d. Conservatives for Britain	52
2. The Deal	55
3. Project Fear	57
4. Trade and Security: Barack Obama's visit	59

5. Budget and Economic Arguments	62
6. Ad Hominem Attacks and Immigration Issue	66
7. Breaking Points; Jo Cox's Murder	70
8. Debating Points	71
9 'All Out War'	77
C. The Result: BREXIT; Why?	79
CONCLUSION	83
REFERENCES	86

Summary

There are numerous analyses trying to explain the outcome of the 2016 referendum on Britain's membership of the EU. The aim of this dissertation is to examine the circumstances under which voters' attitudes were formed, and ultimately reflected in their choice on polling day. The study focuses particularly on the referendum campaign and the various psychological operations applied to British citizens, shaping their opinion and affecting their final decision.

First of all, this contribution attempts to develop the basic aspects of modern psychological operations (PSYOP), which have been known by many other names or terms, including *Propaganda*. The term is used to denote any action which is practiced mainly by psychological methods with the objective of evoking a planned psychological reaction in other people. Various techniques are used, aiming to influence a target audience's value system, belief system, emotions, motives, reasoning, or behaviour. In this context, the first chapter defines the word 'propaganda' and presents significant facts about its origins and examples of its usage in history. Subsequently, based on an extensive literature review, it provides a thorough analysis about a wide range of propaganda devices. This includes tactics involving language manipulation, as well as non-verbal techniques, such as opinion polls and statistics. In accordance with the above, the second chapter elaborates on Britain's EU referendum and attempts to explain the Brexit result. Unlike other academic research, this paper considers the outcome of the referendum within the broader context of a detailed analysis of public attitude towards the EU. This attempt requires examining the circumstances which gave rise to the plebiscite before turning to the issue of how the various strategies that were employed during the referendum campaign influenced the position of British electorate on polling day. The paper gives a concise but rich survey of the development of Euroscepticism in Britain, a phenomenon that provoked considerable debate on the UK's membership in the EU, and eventually led to the resolution of holding a national referendum on the matter. Following that, it devotes a fair number of pages describing the referendum campaign itself – its personalities, principal themes and arguments – and seeks to identify the particular tactics that were used by the two opposing sides to sway voters. It highlights David Cameron's failure to secure a substantive deal regarding Britain's terms of membership with the EU and outlines the key messages of the Remain and Leave campaigns, with the former

focusing on the economic and security risks of leaving, and the latter on immigration and sovereignty. Most importantly, the study emphasizes the prevalence of propaganda techniques throughout the referendum campaign, with reference to the insight of some of the key players on both sides. Last but not least, based on a review of the campaigns' strategies, there is an attempt to determine all those factors that may have attributed to the result of Brexit, and caused a historical moment in British history.

INTRODUCTION

Britain has been debating the advantages and disadvantages of membership in a European Community of nations almost since the idea was broached. It decided to hold the first referendum on its continued membership of the European Economic Area in 1975, almost two years after it joined. A second one was held forty-one years later, after Prime Minister David Cameron promised a national referendum on EU membership, considering of settling the question to the public once and for all. The date for the further 'in-out' referendum was set for 23rd of June 2016, and the battle to keep Britain inside the EU began.

Admittedly, Britain's relationship with the EU differs from that of its European partners. It is true that the United Kingdom had never been sympathetic to the European ideal, with the media and political class reinforcing for decades an anti-European sentiment to British people. Hence, Britain experienced one the most heated, and divisive, political campaign, with the two opposing sides –Remain and Leave – employing a wide range of psychological warfare strategies to manipulate public's vote. According to a growing number of scholars, Brexit was the outcome of a combination of proven psychological operations – the same tactics the military deploys in order to effect mass sentiment change. The two official campaigns, 'Britain Stronger in Europe' and 'Vote Leave' found specific ways to research the voters' emotional states about particular issues regarding the EU and, subsequently, they created messages that elicited a particular voting response in British citizens. Psychological warfare, also known as 'Propaganda', constitutes an enterprise of winning the 'hearts and minds' of people. Unlike the past, when propaganda was mainly found in print newspapers, there are nowadays serious consequences of social

media being also used as a tool to distribute propaganda and manipulate public opinion. In this context, the campaigners of both sides deployed all the available means to target individuals – particularly those parts of the electorate identified as crucial to the result – in order to launch a great deal of information that resonate with the voters in an emotional way. Regardless of its validity, that piece of information was used for the sole purpose of influencing public's decision on polling day. Ultimately, Britain's EU referendum campaign, and its surprise outcome, offers valuable insights for political campaigns all over the world.

CHAPTER ONE: OVERVIEW OF PSYCHOLOGICAL OPERATIONS

A. Definition and analysis

'Psychological Operations' (PSYOPS) is another term used for 'Propaganda', and refers to planned operations that convey selected information to target audiences such as organizations, groups and individuals in order to influence their value system, belief system, emotions and motives. In particular, there is an effort to affect the behavior and attitudes in favor of one particular interest or issue¹. The term "Psychological Operations" was first used by U.S Army referring to the use of psychological techniques of persuasion for war propaganda purposes. During wartime, the major aim is to diminish enemy's morale and at the same time to maintain the allies' morale within rival countries. Propaganda constitutes the main device of Political Warfare. Covert ways of communication – such as the drop of leaflets by a bomber – enable the dissemination of reports inside the enemy's stronghold with damaging consequences. The approach towards the enemy and to his subject people is hostile, while the attitude towards the friendly or still neutral countries and their people has a manipulative character. In one occasion, there is an effort to cause disruption to the enemies' front and destroy their confidence, while the other approach serves to stay reconciled with the friendly countries and build bonds of trust. The first one requires the mindset and methodology of destabilizing and subverting, while the second one suggests directness

¹ Psychological Operations/ Warfare, Major Ed Rouse http://www.psywarrior.com/psyhist.html

and intelligence information sharing.

However, an extended use of the term is made nowadays to refer to all these sophisticated techniques of manipulation used not only in politics, but in the commercial realm as well. The emergence of a globally interconnected, mass-mediated society increased their application and intensity in the last century (Jowett & O'Donnell, 2015, Marlin, 2002). More specifically, an extensive range of media and tools are utilized to articulate propagandistic messages, which improved as new innovated technologies appeared, like posters, animation figures, films, websites and radio or TV shows. Nowadays, propaganda is progressing and evolving into a digital era, which is characterized by the development of computational propaganda strategies that spread bogus or biased news online with the use of bots, algorithms and social media (Marin and Dean, 1929).

Any attempt to define 'Propaganda' requires, first and foremost, an examination of its origins. History plays a pivotal role in understanding the concept of this term. Due to the fact that the intensive propaganda methods are mainly an instrument of political warfare, many people believe that propaganda is something new and modern. The term "propaganda" started to be utilized by the public with the outbreak of the World War I in 1914. Nobody would presume that "propaganda" is something new, supposing that the efforts made in the past to manipulate and guide people's opinions had also the exact name. "The battle for men's minds is as old as human history" (Casey, 1944). According to Casey, in most of the ancient civilizations, people used to live under despotisms and were not able to express their feelings or formulate their opinions as a group due to the lack of methods and tools at that time. However, the Greeks – and more specifically the Athenians – were able to convey their feelings and their beliefs, as well as their interests. Remarkably, they were also aware of the affairs and the problems of the city-state they belonged. Consequently, the differences and arguments on political and religious issues gave birth to propaganda and counterpropaganda. Although there were not devices such as radio or newspapers, the intelligent Athenians created powerful and very effective methods and techniques of propaganda to control and form public's beliefs and attitudes. Some of these methods were the theater, the assembly, the religious festivals and the law courts. Furthermore, they made significant use of the oratory to express their points of view, as well as handwritten books in order to shape and control the men's minds (Casey, 1994).

Since then, propaganda was used anytime by societies with common knowledge and

interests. Already since the sixteenth century some nations applied propaganda methods similar to those of the modern propaganda. For instance, in the case of the Spanish Armada (1588), Philip II of Spain, as well as Queen Elizabeth of England practiced a rather modern form of propaganda. It is noteworthy that some years later Sir Walter Raleigh expressed his annoyance about the propaganda used by Spain (even though he did not use the exact term). His frustration was caused because of a Spanish report about a naval battle close to Azores between the Spanish king's vessels and the British ship Revenge. In particular, he claimed that it was "no marvel that the Spaniard should seek by false and slanderous pamphlets, advisoes, and letters, to cover their own loss and to derogate from others their own honors, especially in this fight being performed far off". Subsequently, he recalled the case of the Spanish Armada and stated that when Spain intended to invade England, the Spaniards published "in sundry languages, in print, great victories in words, which they pleaded to have obtained against this realm; and spread the same in a most false sort over all parts of France, Italy, and elsewhere." However, in reality the Spanish Armada suffered a devastating defeat. These Spanish declarations, though characterized by the language standards of Queen Elizabeth's time, with some alterations may sound alike a statement made in 1944 by the Japanese propaganda office (Casey, 1944). Furthermore, the missionary activities of the Catholic Church were the cause which led European people to begin the usage of the term 'propaganda'. The roots of the term 'propaganda' come from the Latin word 'propagare', which means spread or grow². In 1622 Pope Gregory XV established the 'Congregation for the Propagation of the Faith', which was located in Rome. The Congregation for the Propagation of the Faith was a commission of cardinals who assigned to expand the regulating church affairs and to spread the faith in heathen lands. Thus, Pope Urban VII created the first College of Propaganda to instruct and prepare the priests for that mission. This suggests that propaganda is from its roots an ancient and honorable word, since any religious activity that was related with that word was treated with great respect from humanity (Casey, 1944). Conversely, nowadays the word is completely associated with selfishness, dishonesty and deception.

People were familiarized with the involvement of propaganda on significant issues and concerns due to its long lasting existence from the Middle Ages and in the later historic

-

² Oxford dictionary

periods down to modern times. Some notable cases, where extensive propaganda was applied, were the historic conflict among kings and Parliament in England, the movement of American independence and the France Revolution. In France, Voltaire and Rousseau aroused opposition to Bourbon rule through their writings and during the revolution Danton and his fellows shaped attitudes against the French king, just as the writers Adams and Paine had incited people's opinion in the American Revolution. Last but not least, propaganda's power and triumphs were dramatized throughout World War I. In the post-war period, fascists and communists made an excessive use of intense revolutionary propaganda aiming to extend their control and influence beyond their national borders (Casey, 1944).

With the passage of time, by using its inventive intelligence, the mankind perfected a communicational system which accelerated and extended the influence of information and ideas. However, this machinery of communication also provided the propagandists a rapid and effective system for the spread of their appeals. Although, this evolutionary and innovate technical equipment can be utilized for international good-willing and peaceful purposes, Hitler, Mussolini and Tojo preferred to exploit this efficient and magnificent mechanism for inhumane reasons and for their own profitable desires and preferences. Thus, the definition of propaganda has utterly changed.

Another stimulus to propaganda was the modern development of politics, as the promotion of it is an essential part of political campaigns in democracies. When political leaders used to control nominations, a relatively small promotion was required before a candidate was named to operate an office, but under the direct fundamental system the candidate who seeks nomination ought to address to a voting constituency. Moreover, in the final election he/she must appeal to the electorate for its verdict on his capability of running successfully an office and on the credibility of his/her platform. In other words, a candidate "must engage in promotion as a legitimate and necessary part of a political contest" (Casey, 1944). Subsequently, it is essential for political leaders in power to clarify and explain their courses of action to voters. More specifically, those in power, such as presidents, prime ministers, heads of departments and cabinet members, aim to reconcile the demands of various groups in the society by using means of persuasion. They use propaganda techniques in an effort to justify a particular policy and make a proposed measure clearly understood and widely accepted by the public.

Last but not least, the volume of propaganda has been expanded due to recent

economic changes. For the purpose of selling commodities and services the methods of public relations and propaganda have been greatly developed, under the circumstances of mass production and mass consumption. There have been many attempts of clearly define and analyze the meaning of propaganda and also loads of considerations and debates about the proper and the most effective use of it in a way that it could be beneficial for humanity.

As Randal Marlin notes, we should think propaganda as a "systematic, motivated attempt to influence the thinking and behavior of others through means that impede or circumvent a propagandee's ability to appreciate the nature of this influence" (Marlin, 2002). From the World War I and II, when propaganda was used to move entire nations, up to the present many people have tried to recognize the tactics used by propagandists. Scholars have identified various standard techniques and each of them chooses a different way to analyze them. Randal Marlin states that they can be separated in many categories; verbal and non-verbal forms of propaganda, techniques that appeal to ethos (convince an audience of your credibility or character), to pathos (persuade an audience by appealing to their emotions) and others devoted to persuasion by logos, or argument. There are also large-scale strategies, which include and combine a whole range of techniques.

B. Propaganda: Techniques involving Language Manipulation

1. Basic Propaganda Devices

The most well-known and compact list of propaganda tactics was created by the Institute for Propaganda Analysis (IPA). This New York-based Institute was established in 1937 due to general concern that the widespread propaganda was decreasing the public's ability to think critically, and suspended its operations in late October 1941 when the United States prepared to enter the war. The purpose of the Institution was to educate American public about the nature of political propaganda and understand the techniques by which propaganda is spread. IPA was composed of social scientists and journalists and it published a series of books, including; *The Fine Art of Propaganda, Propaganda Analysis, Group Leader's Guide to Propaganda Analysis, Propaganda: How To Recognize and Deal With It* (Jowett & O'Donnell, 2015, Delviche, 2018). This Institute identified the following seven basic devices

which are so frequently reproduced and widely quoted in lectures, articles, and textbooks that "they have become virtually synonymous with the practice and analysis of propaganda in all of its aspects" (Combs & Nimmo, 1993).

<u>Name-Calling:</u> The name-calling technique links a person, or idea, to a negative word or symbol and is a powerful force for influencing opinion because names are easily remembered. It is used to arouse prejudice and make us reject and condemn a person or idea without examining the evidence. Words like "terrorist", "racist", ""sexist" carry powerful emotional overtones and politicians sometimes resort to this kind of labels during political campaigns or public events with the intentions of gaining advantage over, or defending themselves from, an opponent or critic.

Glittering Generality: This is defined as associating something with highly valued concepts and beliefs. It could be considered as the opposite of "name-calling" as it links a person, or idea, to a positive symbol. Propagandists employ vague, sweeping statements (often slogans or simple catchphrases) including intentionally virtue words such as "honor", "democracy", "peace", "family". The use of these words, without context or specific definitions provided, serves the sole purpose of evoking certain feelings to the audience. These feelings later translate into unquestioning approval of whatever the propagandist states. Magedah Shabo gives certain examples in her book and notes that glittering generalities can make or break a candidate's campaign. Example: "I stand for freedom: for a strong nation, unrivaled in the world. My opponent believes we must compromise in these ideals, but I believe they are our birthright."

Other words with strong positive connotations that constitute popular glittering generalities are "freedom/liberty", "strength", "security", "prosperity", "choice", "equality", "change".

<u>Transfer:</u> The Institute of Propaganda Analysis defines this term as a device by which the propagandist carries over the authority, sanction, and prestige of something respected and revered to something else in order to make the latter acceptable. Symbols are constantly employed to stir public's emotions and win peoples' approval. More specifically, propagandists attempt to transfer the status of a beloved symbol to the cause they represent. For example, the *cross* represents the Christian Church and the *flag* represents the nation. A politician could close their speech with a public prayer, attempting to transfer religious prestige to the ideas they are advocating or could be photographed in front of the country's flag to project patriotism.

Transfer is a very common device in political spectrum. Randal Marlin explains that there are legitimate and illegitimate uses of this method. It is legitimate when it is used to represent fairly what a party stands for. If a candidate plans to increase public subsidies for mass transit once he/she is elected, then it helps to be seen riding a bus. However, it is illegitimate when it is used unfairly to pretend the candidate is in favor of something that he/she is truly not. There are publicity-seeking candidates who try to take credit through photo-opportunities for projects they have never got involved with or take pictures with senior political icons to share the latters' prestige even if they never shared the same views. The reverse of this is publicizing footage of opponents in the presence of people who have earned the contempt of the community in order to suggest the connection between the candidates and the others. The "Transfer" technique is considered more subliminal (operating on a subconscious rather than conscious level) than other techniques. (Hoyt, 2018)

Testimonial: In the Institute's definition, the Testimonial Device "consists in having some respected or hated person say that a given idea or program or product or person is good or bad". A testimonial is an endorsement. This technique has usually a wellknown figure endorse, recommend or disapprove of a product, cause or program. The more famous or respected an individual is, the more powerful their testimonial will be in the eyes of the public. This appeal to authority may include the use of celebrities and public personalities who have well established and trusted public brands, the use of experts, clerics, police, scientists and others whose title is respected, as soon as, people who are like the people whose support the propagandist needs. By simply citing a qualified source, getting them support your case with vigor on TV shows or/and stand up on stage with you in political debates, the testimonial technique can be used to construct a balanced argument. As Randal Marlin notices, this method encourages the propagandist's audience to accept ideas without subjecting them to critical examination. However, this source should be credible in the context of the speaker's claim. The most common misuse of the testimonial involves citing individuals who are not qualified to make judgements about a particular issue. For example, in 2016, Lady Gaga supported Hillary Clinton, and Clint Eastwood threw his weight behind Donald Trump. Although they are both popular performers, there is no reason to think they necessarily know what is best for the United States (Delviche, 2018). Last but not least, making vague references to experts without naming specific names or details is also a variation of the testimonial device.

Examples: "Many doctors claim that ...", "All of the greatest legal minds agree ..."

Plain Folks: The plain folks technique is an attempt by the propagandists to convince their audience that they, and their ideas, are "of the people"/"the plain folks" by presenting themselves to the public as the everyday man, "just like you". It is designed to make ordinary citizens be related with a political candidate or other figure that they otherwise may have nothing in common with. People like to vote for someone who "speaks their language" and can understand and empathize with their concerns. This is why "plain folks" is used most in politics. Politicians usually come from prestigious backgrounds and have hefty bank accounts. However, they try to give the illusion that they are normal people, from humble origins and ordinary lives by doing activities in public, such as attending church services, showing devotion to little children and pets or going fishing. The images of George Bush wearing denims and a plaid shirt while relaxing at Camp David or Bill Clinton eating at McDonalds are all examples of using this technique.

By using plain language and mannerisms, the propagandist gives the people a sense of trust making them believe that they share common goals and eventually agree with him/her.

<u>Card Stacking:</u> This method requires skill and ingenuity. Propagandist uses this technique to give an unfair advantage to one point of view and make the best case possible for his/her side, while weakening the opposing viewpoint. More specifically, the Institution defines "card-stacking" as "the selection and use of facts and falsehoods, illustrations or distractions, and logical or illogical statements in order to give the best or the worst possible case for an idea, program, person or product." The arguments used in this device may be honest, in terms of the information shared, and convincing because they rely on sound reasoning and facts. However, they are misleading because they present information out of context, ignore contrary opinions on issues, omit serious details or conceal important facts (Shabo, 2008). The true facts are twisted by the propagandist who uses only the information and evidence that support his/her ideas and suit his/her interest. This one-sided effect is commonly used in political campaigns, in both written and visual propaganda. It can be accomplished by stating your favored view first and choosing an appropriate mix of speakers in debates to confirm your ideas and make them dominant. Making your opinion visually noticeable, while letting the undesirable information be printed in a smaller typeface or some way visually obscured, could also be possible ways of using this technique.

Randal Marlin stresses that "card-stacking" covers a large area, considering the frequent and extended misuses of statistics and polls. The aim of "stacking cards against the truth" is for the audience to be impressed. Propagandists try to control the beliefs of their followers by making assume that these facts are conclusive. This unfairly representation of the situation is dangerously deceptive and hard to detect as it does not provide all of the information necessary for the audience to make an informed decision (Shabo, 2008, Marlin, 2002, Crouch, 2018, McDonald & Palmer, 2015). Bandwagon: Propagandists use this device to persuade the viewer or listener to follow the crowd and "jump on the bandwagon". This technique creates the impression of widespread support and it capitalizes on the human desire to be a member of the winning team. It is based on the premise that "since so many other people are doing it, it must be good, or at least acceptable". According to this concept, the group addressed should accept the propagandist's program, join the crowd and align with the most popular, successful side of the issue. Simultaneously, there is the implication that everyone who refuses to follow the mass movement will be isolated. The feeling of loneliness and the fear of exclusion also play a role in the bandwagon effect (Crouch, 2018, Hoyt, 2018).

The bandwagon device explains why there are fashion trends and is also very effective when used in religious and political propaganda. For example, it is highly observed during elections that the increasing popularity of a candidate or party encourages people's support. Citizens tend to vote those candidates or parties who are likely to win (or are proclaimed as such by the media), hoping to be part of the "winning team" in the end. Especially in situations involving majority opinion, such as political outcomes, people may ignore or override their own beliefs and alter their opinion to accord to the majority view (McAllister & Studlar, 1991). During the 1992 U.S. presidential election, a study was conducted at a large northeastern university and the results were published in "The Journal of Consumer Research (1996)". Some volunteer business students were given the results of student and national polls indicating that Bill Clinton was in the lead. Many of them who had intended to vote for Bush changed their minds after seeing the poll results (Morwitz & Pluzinski, 1996).

There is a variety of other techniques in which language is used to manipulate an audience. In this research, there will be presented some further interesting examples of propaganda methods, drawing on the work of many scholars, for a more accurate, clear

and complete view. It is worth noting that many of the definitions are associated with or complement the ones listed above, subsisting on the same basic principles.

J.A.C. Brown, in his 1963 book "Techniques of persuasion: From propaganda to brainwashing", compiled a list of such deceptive practices involving language.

The Use of Stereotypes: This is similar to Name-calling device. Brown outlines that there is a natural tendency to 'type' people in terms of their racial, ethnic, or cultural characteristics. Stereotypes ignore individual identity and categorize people into specific groups. There is an exaggerated belief that, within these groups, members act alike and share the same beliefs and attitudes. Hence the stereotypes of the black people, the Jew, the capitalist constitute a type of discrimination as these people's reactions are explained in terms of the group they belong. Stereotyping creates also prejudice as assumptions about particular categories of people are transformed into "realities".

Examples: "Blonde women are unintelligent", "Blacks are great athletes", "Asians are very smart and technology savvy", "Women are bad drivers", "All teenagers are rebels"

<u>Downright Lying</u>: One obvious way to manipulate is simply to lie. However, the liar loses credibility once the falsehood gets detected. Therefore, propagandists lie to achieve a specific goal in short-terms (Marlin, 2002). Brown reports among others the example of Hitler's recommendation of the Big Lie. The expression was conceived by Hitler, when he dictated his *Mein Kampf* book, about the use of a lie so "colossal" that no one would believe that someone "could have the impudence to distort the truth so infamously".

Repetition: As Brown states, a propagandist is confident that, "if he repeats a statement often enough, it will in time come to be accepted by his audience". Phrases regularly mentioned, such as slogans and key words play a large part in advertising and politics. Repetition is used so frequently because it is easy and effective. By simply repeating a "catchy" word or sentence, emphasis is provided to the statements and people listening will remember it any time they think about that certain subject (Whitney, 2013).

A notable example is Martin Luther King's famous speech by American civil rights, which included the phrase "*I have a dream*" a number of times. This made his speech very powerful and memorable.

Assertion: Many authors mention this technique. Eleanor Maclean in her 1981 book "Between the lines" and Magedah Shabo in her 2008 book "Techniques and Persuasion" make an extensive reference to "assertion" considering it as the first and the simplest form of propaganda. Brown outlines that bold assertions in favor of the propagandist's thesis aim for the deliberate limitation of free thought and questioning. This method consists of simply stating debatable ideas as facts, with little or no explanation or justification (Shabo, 2008). Sometimes dubious claims are followed by expressions like "unquestionable", "undeniably" or "as everyone knows" (Maclean, 1981).

Examples: "The Middle East will never be at peace", "Richard Williams obviously doesn't have the experience it takes to be President of the United States"

Pinpointing the Enemy: Brown claims that it is helpful if a speaker or writer "can put forth a message which is not only for something, but also against some real or imagined enemy". By presenting a specific cause, person or group as enemy, propagandists simplify a complex situation. This technique is extremely used during wartime but it is also observed in political debates and campaigns³. An example provided by Brown is the Nazi campaigns against the Jews and the 'plutodemocracies'. The author underlines that this was an attempt to blame selected targets in order to direct aggression away from the propagandist and his party, as well as to strengthen ingroup feelings and improve party morale.

Further Examples⁴: "The reason there are so many people unemployed in America is because of Barack Obama", "McDonald's is the reason for obesity in America".

The Appeal to Authority: This is related to "Testimonial Device". The propagandist relies his/her arguments on an authority that appears to be an expert on the specific subject. Based on the credibility of this "expert", the propagandist tries to persuade the audience that he/she is right and gain support. The authorities appealed to are usually religious figures, people working on science, or professors.

Examples: "Scientists have found that eating cooked meat causes cancer", "Drinking is morally wrong because this is what the pastor of the local church said in his sermon"

³ https://unitas.wordpress.com/2007/07/11/propaganda-techniques/

⁴ http://www.learnquebec.ca/documents/20181/267969/006-Propaganda_101-Student_Resources.pdf/d5e11bf9-d917-4ad5-95c9-acec19ea17d1?version=1.0

Eleanor Maclean's list on propaganda practices will also be examined. Although her book "Between the lines" supplements the theory above, she chooses to give more emphasis on techniques that could be subcategories of the "Card-stacking" method. <u>Selective Omission:</u> There are also legal terms in Latin referred to this device; namely suppressio veri with suggestio falsi, meaning "a suppression of truth is equivalent to an expression of falsehood"⁵. The propagandist selects to omit certain facts or circumstances connected with an event, in order to form a false impression and deceive the audience. He/she does not lie, but neither tells the whole truth. Randal Marlin tries to illustrate Maclean's definitions by giving real-life examples in his own book. He presents the case of a politician who has to vote on a bill which combines both acceptable and unbearable measures for the public. He notes that it is selective omission to report that the politician voted against the positive measures without mentioning that the bill also included the other, unacceptable features (Marlin, 2002). Quoting Out of Context: This is relevant to selective omission. The propagandist reproduces deliberately a part of what someone said (selective quotation) in order to prove that this person holds views that, in fact, they do not hold. The ultimate purpose of this "trick" is to distort, alter, or even reverse the originally intended meaning of the quote according to the propagandist's interest (Cline, 2018). Statements meant ironically may not be conveyed as such, thereby, the concept presented eventually is exactly the opposite of what was intended. (Maclean, 1981, Cline, 2018). Quoting out of context is a tactic mainly used in politics where opposition party quotes the statements of the others, in such a way, to serve its interest and ruin the opponent's reputation.

Examples: (Original statements):

1. "This has been the best play I've seen all year! Of course, it is the only play I've seen all year". 2. "This was a fantastic movie, as long as you aren't looking for plot or character development"

(Selective Quotation):

1. "This has been the best play which he has seen this year". 2. "This is a fantastic movie"

Meshing fact with opinion: Sometimes opinions and facts are mixed. Propagandists

⁵ https://dictionary.thelaw.com/suppressio-veri-expressio-falsi/

may present their personal belief or judgement and support it with facts in order to manipulate their audience. Maclean notes that we need to pay attention to the language used when a statement is made because "opinion can be concealed behind claims that appear to be purely factual". In her given example, "Southern Africa is being overrun by Communists", she urged us to examine and evaluate what the words connote. She notices that the definition of the term "Communist" may not be limited here to card-carrying Communist Party Members and the verb "overrun" expresses the speaker's belief that there are too many of the designated group in the area. The facts propagandists choose to present and the way they choose to present them reflect the argument they are trying to make (Gonçalves, 2016).

Last but not least, various academic sources focus on emotional appeals, as a successful way used extensively by propagandists to influence public opinion. Widely reported as most important is the appeal to fear;

Scare Tactics or Appeal to Fear: Propagandists employ this method by warning people of the serious repercussions that will result if they do not act in a particular way. As Aaron Delviche states, "By playing on the audience's deep-seated fears, practitioners of this technique hope to redirect attention away from the merits of a particular proposal and toward steps that can be taken to reduce the fear." Plenty of empirical studies have been conducted in respect of fear appeals and their effectiveness. According to a brief review of this research, a successful fear appeal includes four elements: 1) a threat, 2) a particular recommendation about how the public should behave, 3) public's perception that the recommendation will help to cope effectively with the threat, and 4) public's perception that they are capable of implementing the recommended attitude (Delviche, 2018).

The fear appeal is a prevalent technique in contemporary politics. Politicians attempt to intensify people's uncertainty, doubt and fear about immigration, guns or some external threat, while promising that they will reduce the threat if they are voted.

In conclusion, it is worth noting that there are many additional "tricks" extensively used by propagandists in order to manipulate and shape public's opinion. Skilled rhetoricians can attribute a different meaning to a sentence by using the passive voice or selected verbs and adverbs with the desired ambiguity. This indefiniteness is an attempt to conceal or reveal as much as they wish (Marlin, 2002). Randal Marlin

emphasizes that there can be verbal expressions, for example, that "impute intention to a doer more definitely, or to a higher degree, in relation to some consequence". The statement "A caused B's death" gives a lower degree of culpability rather than "A killed B". Accordingly, the imprecision and the deliberate omission of certain words may completely change the meaning of a sentence and create false impression. Provided that the killing was an accident, the assertion that "A killed B", without further details, leaves open the possibility that the killing was an intentional act. The failure to mention the word "accidentally" may lead to a wrong conclusion (Marlin, 2002).

2. Logical Fallacies

Of equal importance to the propaganda devices mentioned above are "Logical Fallacies", which constitute a separate sector in propaganda analysis. Since the time of Plato and Aristotle, common fallacies in reasoning were at the center of philosophers' interest, mainly for avoiding making such mistakes. However, these misconceptions can be used immorally to deceive an audience (Marlin, 2002). More specifically, fallacies and propaganda techniques are associated by nature, as they overlap, are often used in combination, and do not always fit simply into one category or another (Mckeever, 2005). Propagandists' desire to persuade makes the conscious and habitual use of fallacies as rhetorical devices prevail. The following list of language-linked fallacies dates back to Aristotle and earlier and is based principally on Randal Marlin's book.

The Ad Hominem Argument: This Latin phrase literally means "to the person". In logic and rhetoric, ad hominems refer to personal attacks (Ferrer, 2018). "An ad hominem fallacy redirects the discussion of an issue to a discussion of one of the subjects—to his or her personal failings, inconsistency, or bias" (Mckeever, 2005). It is fallacious to reject someone's view on the basis of their bad character. In particular, ad hominem arguments are a fallacy of relevance where someone criticizes another person's claim due to his/her personal characteristics, background, physical appearance, or other features irrelevant to the argument at issue (Ferrer, 2018). For example, a good policy does not change merely because a bad person advocates it. The assumption that it does is sometimes called the "genetic fallacy". We need to examine

the policy on its own merits and not on the character of the person supporting it, in order to avoid unsound reasoning (Marlin, 2002). Undoubtedly, ad hominem arguments are very common in politics, where the undermining of the opponent's credibility is a vital component of effective rhetoric. Especially in political campaigns, instead of addressing the candidate's attitude on the issues, or addressing his/her effectiveness as a politician, a propagandist may focus on personality issues, speech patterns, outfit, style, and other things that affect popularity but have no relation with candidate's competence. In this way, propagandists try to influence the voters unethically by appealing to unrelated foibles instead of addressing core issues. <u>False Cause</u>: It is a logical error to think that simply because one incident follows another, the first causes the second. This fallacy is sometimes called "post hoc, ergo propter hoc" ("after this, therefore because of this") (Marlin, 2002). Randal Marlin underlines that "the attribution of causality cannot be established merely by the temporal sequence". According to Rosemary Mckeever, who agrees with Randal Marlin, causal fallacy is the result of incorrectly identifying the causes of occurrences either by oversimplifying or by misinterpreting a statistical correlation for a cause. She notes that oversimplifying happens when people attribute to a single cause a complex causal network.

Example: "Poor performance in schools is caused by poverty⁶". Poverty is certainly a factor contributing to poor academic performance but it is not the only one.

On the other hand, mistaking correlation for cause occurs when we assume a causal connection between two unrelated events which happen at the same time, either coincidentally or because they are both results of the same cause (Mckeever, 2005).

Example: "Eating more ice cream in the summer causes an increase in crime rates".

By giving this example, Mckeever stresses how a statistical correlation can lead to a logical fallacy. Although the rates for ice-cream consuming and violent crimes both increase each summer, under no circumstances the first causes the second. Yet, the simultaneous rise of these phenomena may be a result of a common cause, like hot weather (Mckeever, 2005). Likewise, we cannot make assumptions about causation without clear evidence. For instance, if we observe that, among octogenarians, fewer smokers have been diagnosed with Alzheimer's than nonsmokers, it is fallacious to conclude that smoking helps prevent this disease (Marlin, 2002).

⁶ https://unitas.wordpress.com/2007/07/11/propaganda-techniques

Hasty Generalization: Hasty generalizations are general statements hastily made and supported by little or no evidence. More specifically, these statements are drawn as unwarranted conclusions about how a whole class of people behave, taking as reference only a small sample. For example, someone may have a bad experience with a lawyer and, therefore, make the blanket accusation that all lawyers are unscrupulous (Marlin, 2002). Moreover, when the sample is too biased to support a conclusion, it also constitutes hasty generalization. For instance, a survey is conducted of ten million households, selected from all fifty states, and yet all of them being Democrat. National election's result could not be predicted sufficiently, based merely on this evidence (Mckeever, 2005).

Last but not least, Ferrer highlights in his article that these general claims may lead to some sort of illicit assumption, overstatement, exaggeration, or even stereotypes (Ferrer, 2018).

Ignoring the Question: Randal Marlin characterizes it as a "time-honored" device, as it is widely used by officials who face some damaging accusation by the media. In practice, the person asked diverts the questioning by answering to some different issue, ignoring the actual question completely. The author presents the case in British Columbia in 1997, when the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) clashed with demonstrators and used pepper-spray to control the crowd. When the Canadian Prime Minister Jean Chrétien asked about this action, he joked and responded that he put pepper on his plate (Marlin, 2002).

Ignoring the Logical Force and Direction of an Argument: This is one of the main types of logical fallacies to which scholars attribute many different names, like "Smokescreen" or "Red-herring" fallacy⁷. It is also known as "Ignoratio elenchi" (literally in Latin; "ignorance of the refutation") because it produces eventually a totally irrelevant conclusion. According to this tactic, a speaker attempts to redirect the argument to another topic to which he/she can better respond. While it is similar to "Ignoring the Question", the difference lies upon the deliberate diversion of attention in order to distract and confuse the audience. In this case, there is an effort to replace the lack of real arguments, abandon the original subject of the discussion and introduce a separate issue. Typically, the argument given in response seems to be relevant but is

⁷ The phrase "red herring" refers to a kippered herring (salted herring-fish) which is quite pungent and has a very strong odor. According to legend, this aroma was so strong and delectable to animals that it served for training the hunting dogs and for testing how well they could track a scent without getting distracted. Dogs are not generally used for hunting fish so a red herring is a distraction from what he is supposed to be hunting. https://thebestschools.org/magazine/15-logical-fallacies-know

not really on-topic (Ferrer, 2018, Mckeever, 2005). This fallacy of relevance is very common when the person asked does not like the current topic and deviates from it in order to speak about a more preferred matter- usually something easier or safer to address (Ferrer, 2018). Randal Marlin argues that this challenge may require clever reasoning abilities through the development of the argument, combined with some sentiment. He stresses that when passions are aroused, people are manipulated more easily. Besides, "building up emotional indignation can result in easier bridging of this logical gap" (Marlin, 2002).

For example, an argument stating that a given crime is odious and needs to be punished does not really answer the question whether the person accused committed such a crime (Marlin, 2002).

Finally, politics is another arena where the use of this fallacy is widespread. Political figures are familiar with this technique and use it mainly to mislead the general public. For instance, Donald Trump was asked during the second presidential debate about some recordings from 2005 –in which he is heard making degrading comments about women to Billy Bush. He responded by changing the topic to ISIS, in an effort to make his taped comments appear unimportant in comparison.

"This was locker room talk. I'm not proud of it. I apologized to my family. I apologized to the American people. (...) You know what, we have a world where you have ISIS chopping off heads, where you have men frankly drowning people in steel cages, where you have wars (...). Yes, I'm very embarrassed by it. I hate it. But it's a locker room talk and it's one of those things. I will knock the hell out of ISIS, we're going to defeat ISIS. ISIS happened a number of years ago in a vacuum that was left because of bad judgment. And I will tell you I will take care of ISIS." (Trump, 2016)

Begging the Question: This form of fallacy is also called "circular reasoning" or "petitio principi" (meaning "assuming the initial [thing]"). It occurs when a person makes a claim and tries to justify it by advancing grounds that actually repeat what is assumed beforehand. More specifically, when the justification of a statement leads to a conclusion which is equivalent to the original statement, this constitutes "circular reasoning" (Ferrer, 2018, Mckeever, 2005, Marlin, 2002). Rosemary Mckeever's definition explains it more extensively; "circular reasoning presents as a true premise an assertion that actually requires its own proof. This leads to a "conclusion" that has

.

⁸ via https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/10/us/politics/transcript-second-debate.html

already been pre-supposed or implied". According to Randal Marlin, fanatics are particularly prone to this fallacy. Due to the fact that they are overwhelming enthusiast and obsessed with they own beliefs and ideas, they cannot understand or accept the opposing view. Therefore, they argue heatedly against an opponent projecting that it is an issue between them. A frequently-used example of circular arguments is found in a debate between theist and atheist. The assertion that God exists because the Bible is divinely inspired and assures His existence is a circular argument. It is also circular for the atheist to reject the possibility that Bible is divinely inspired because there is no God, when this is the very point at issue (Marlin, 2002).

<u>False Analogy</u>: Drawing analogies between various events, circumstances, or things always plays an important part in learning. Correspondingly, people try to explain and convince the others about particular situations- or actions- by comparing them with former situations (Marlin, 2002). Randal Marlin explicates that false analogy is a fallacy of placing excessive weight on similarities rather than dissimilarities. The differences, notwithstanding their importance, may be not acknowledged, not clearly explained, or simply, ignored. In that case, the analogy is poorly suited and logical conclusions cannot be drawn; dissimilarities can often overpower the similarities and, therefore, invalidate the specific argument.

Examples⁹: "People who buy stocks are no different from people who bet on horse racing. They both risk their money with little chance of making a big profit." "Smoking cigarettes is just like ingesting arsenic into your system. Both have been shown to be causally related to death."

Amphiboly: "The word amphiboly comes from the Greek "ampho", which means 'double' or 'on both sides'" (Cline, 2018). Language may include sentence constructions that can be parsed in multiple ways to get different meanings. The word "amphiboly" refers to the syntactic ambiguity of a whole phrase or sentence which results to divergent interpretations. Headlines, for example, often provide such ambiguous phrases: "Squad Helps Dog Bite Victim", "Miners Refuse to Work after Death", "Deer Kill 17,000".

This fallacy is considered Propaganda when amphiboly is exploited on purpose to induce people to perceive the meaning in one (false) way, while responding to the accusation of lying by pointing to another (true) meaning (Marlin, 2002).

⁹ https://www.txstate.edu/philosophy/resources/fallacy-definitions/Faulty-Analogy.html

Accident: The fallacy of accident was introduced by Aristotle. It occurs when a statement is applied as a general rule to all situations while ignoring legitimate exceptions. This sort of simplistic rules defies rationality and therefore, constitutes a logical fallacy. The ulterior motive behind this generalization is to "bypass reason to preserve the illusion of a perfect law" (Bennett, 2012). Subsequently, this invalid syllogism can lead to absurd conclusions. For instance:

Cutting people with knives is a crime. \rightarrow Surgeons cut people with knives. \rightarrow Surgeons are criminals.

C. Propaganda: Non-Verbal Techniques

In modern times, good policy-making is often followed by numbers. The problem lies in recognizing whether these numbers cited by experts are accurate and applied to determine policy or are untrustworthy and used to manipulate people's will. Among the various forms of propaganda in existence, the public also needs to be alarmed by the common pitfalls in the use of polls and statistics (Marlin, 2002).

1. Opinion Polls

"Public opinion polls, frequently conducted and with results that are widely disseminated, are one distinguishing feature of a healthy democracy" (Traugott, 2003). Western world is based on the premise that democracy is a superior system and, therefore, arguments for a given measure or policy gain ground if there is evidence that the proposals have the public's support (Marlin, 2002). Consequently, everyone who needs to take into account people's perspective turns to opinion polls, which are surveys designed to represent the viewpoints of a population. This kind of survey is usually employed by politicians, business leaders, as well as journalists, in order to measure opinion. Especially in politics, polling is used as a means of communication between the citizens and their elected representatives (Traugott, 2003). Under these conditions, opinion polls seem to be really important in today's world, since they constitute a tool through which people's wishes can be discerned (Dionne & Mann, 2003). What is more, technological innovations have influenced survey methods, such

as the availability of the statistical software and Internet based polling, making it possible to produce data faster and cheaper.

However, the ubiquity and wide use of pollsters arises many concerns about their reliability. People should be reluctant to trust the polling data, without a fair amount of detailed information about how the poll has been conducted (Traugott, 2003). Marlin notices that it is easy to be deceived by opinion polls and underlines that even those commissioning the polls can be misled. In his 2003 article "Can We Trust the Polls?: It all depends", Traugott strengthens Marlin's view. He urges poll consumers to be aware and notifies that "today, with polls proliferating in the media and with methodological concerns increasing within the polling industry, caution is even more warranted". Indeed, opinion polls can be misleading in many ways. Some deceptions are connected with the polling methodology that may affect the quality and accuracy of the collected data. Others have an impact on people polled, by embedding certain ideas in their minds under the pretext of seeking their opinions. In particular, bogus polls of this sort are called "ruse polls" or "push polls" because they intend to push voters for or against a candidate (Marlin, 2002). According to reports, such a "push poll" was conducted, for instance, in 1996 by the Ontario government and was censured by the Ontario Secondary School Teachers Federation. The objective of the poll was to ascertain public opinion about the decision to make spending cuts in education up to \$1billion. One of the polling questions was, "Since teachers have had it so good for so long, should they not be asked to suffer a little?" Teachers who had been polled complained to the federation and asked for the reconstruction of the question. The president of the OSSTF was quoted as referring to the government, "They are now engaging in a propaganda strategy to sway public opinion regarding the actions they intend to take in the education sector¹⁰ (Marlin, 2002).

Additionally, Randal Marlin outlines the "pseudo-polling", regarding the polls seeking specific opinions on matters in order to reach a foregone conclusion. Especially some activist organizations are inclined to this method; instead of being interested in the responses, they try to encourage awareness and indignation concerning the problems noted by the question.

In relation to the above, scholars made a thorough research and compiled a list of ways

-

¹⁰ Ottawa Citizen, 10 February 1996: A14

in which polls can be deceptive and fallacious:

Randomness: Polling is based on the theory that one gets a small sample from a population, and examines it, in order to form an idea about the whole composition of the specific population. Supposing the sample is absolutely random and respectively large (at least some hundreds for a population in the millions), there is a fair chance that the composition of the sample will give a quite clear view about the population as a whole. Randomness is obviously required in the polling procedure. It is a prerequisite that the selection of people to be sampled should not exclude particular groups, locations, or ages in order to be truly random and representative (Madden & Keri, 2009). For instance, it would be misleading to ascertain the proportion of French speakers in the population of Canada by taking only a sample from Montreal, where there is a large percentage of French speakers (Marlin, 2002).

<u>Interviewer effects</u>: There is evidence that biases can be produced resulting from who does the polling. Studies have indicated, for example, that African-Americans, when asked about racism, express themselves more freely to African-American interviewers than to white pollsters¹¹. Moreover, the way pollsters manage the results plays a significant role. Randal Marlin notes specifically that "how pollsters divide up the undecideds can make an important difference to the assessment of public opinion." The author presents the case of the 1980 Quebec independence referendum. Back then, the director of research for the Canadian Broadcasting Federation (CBC), Barry Kiefl, commented on the opinion polls taken prior to referendum. His claim was that "some pollsters assume the undecided will split the same way as decided voters, others weight some of the undecided by the direction in which they are 'leaning' or according to the party they voted for in an election. Some polls exclude those who indicate they are unlikely to vote, others include all eligible voters." 12 Kiefl underlined that the procedures followed by the pollsters could completely alter the results, particularly in a campaign during which there had been dramatic shifts in public opinion (Marlin, 2002).

Mathematical limitations: This factor refers to mathematically determinable ranges of error that arise during an opinion poll and are usually ignored in results-reports. It should be taken into consideration that every poll has a margin of error, which means

¹¹ See Herbert H. Hyman, et al. "Interviewing in Social Research", A Research Project of the National Opinion Research Center (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press, 1954) 159ff

Barry Kiefl, letter, *Globe and Mail*, 11 September 1984

that the real number is not necessarily the reported result, but is within a given range. Opinion polls include inevitably a margin of error due to the fact that researchers are polling a tiny sample of the voting public which cannot perfectly mirror the whole population (Alexander, 2017). Nevertheless, the larger the sample size, the smaller the margin of error. Pollsters should fulfill all the required conditions so that the result is as representative as possible, while, simultaneously, they should report the likely size of an error.

The intricacies of polling are undoubtedly much more complicated. However, this approach helps us to comprehend the potential of deception (Marlin, 2002). For example, provided that a poll shows us that 36 per cent of Greeks prefer Alexis Tsipras as prime minister, and later, another poll shows us that 38 per cent favour him as prime minister, while the polls' stated range of error is plus or minus four percentage, we cannot presume that his popularity has increased¹³. In the first case, the estimate ranges from 32 to 40 per cent, and in the second one from 34 to 42 per cent. This fact creates the possibility that the real statistics of the opinion polls are respectively 40 per cent for the first one and 34 per cent for the second. Subsequently, a decline in the Prime Minister's popularity might have appeared as an increase (Marlin, 2002). Furthermore, in cases that subpopulations are considered, opinion polls seem to become even more untrustworthy. By giving another example regarding Quebec referendum, Randal Marlin tries to explain this observation. In 1990, a poll was conducted to 2,259 citizens coming from all areas of Canada (apart from the Northwest Territories and the Yukon) and he reported range of error was 2.2 percentage points. Supposing we make a reference to Quebec alone that is a province of Canada, its sample is smaller than the total one including it, so the relevant range of error becomes inevitably bigger. Indeed, it turned out by the pollsters that the respective ranges for each region were 4.3 percentage points for Quebec, 4.4 for Ontario, 4.8 for the Prairies, 4.9 for British Columbia and 4.8 percentage points for Atlantic Canada¹⁴ (Marlin, 2002).

Under these circumstances, pollsters and, by extension, media and newspapers should take into account these variables and inform the public appropriately. Otherwise, the people can be misled "as to the true state of opinion" (Marlin, 2002). Usually, news reports of polling results include this necessary data; an estimated percentage with a

¹³ the example was based on the author's example and adapted to Greek political realm

¹⁴ Globe and Mail, 29 October 1990: A7

stated range of error and the number of people sampled. However, the confidence level¹⁵ is often overlooked in news reports, and even if it appears, it is mentioned only superficially or in the fine print (Madden & Keri, 2009).

Wording and Context of the Question: This probably constitutes the most remarkable way by which polls can influence public opinion. Randal Marlin explicates how the wording of the question can be biased in order to direct people's responses; the question "Are you in favor of nuclear power and the reduction of coal-fired, polluting, ecologically harmful power stations?" may evoke more positive answers regarding the nuclear industry, rather than the question "Do you favor nuclear power despite its high cost, the problems of nuclear waste disposal, and the remote possibility of meltdown?" (Marlin, 2002). The author underlines that reporters may irresponsibly ignore the full question while presenting the polling results and give emphasis only on the percentage of people being 'for' or 'against' nuclear power. He points out that readers should have the chance to consider how they would have responded in that case and for what reason. "Journalistic integrity requires that the wording and the methodology be presented for the reader's inspection, even if only at the end of the story" (Marlin, 2002).

The way an opinion poll is constructed plays a significant role in the survey's outcome. More specifically, the structure of the questionnaire and how the questions are worded may – deliberately or not – lead the responders to answer in a particular way. For instance, asking "How inefficient is Prime Minister when it comes to foreign policy?" gives a negative connotation to the question, instead of asking "How would you describe Prime Minister's position on foreign policy?" Accordingly, a form of survey that could be proved misleading is when the pollster sets a pair of contrasting statements and asks people to indicate which one represents best their opinion. The following example explains how the context of the questions can elicit very different and incompatible answers: The Legal Research Institute at the University of Manitoba conducted a survey asking people to choose between "I must always obey the Law" / "It is alright to break the law as long as you don't get caught". The respondents answered affirmatively by roughly 93 per cent to the first one and only 7 per cent chose the second. A few questions later though, the same people gave an affirmative response of about 47 per cent to the question "There are situations when it is right not

¹⁵ In Mathematics: the probability that the value of a parameter falls within a specified range of values.

This is based on the example given in https://surveytown.com/10-examples-of-biased-survey-questions

to obey the law", when it was contrasted with "Disobedience of the law can never be tolerated" (chosen approximately by 52 per cent). This inconsistency in responses demonstrates that the import of an answer to a poll question cannot be properly evaluated without knowing the question in context (Marlin, 2002).

<u>Dishonest Respondents</u>: Undoubtedly, polls cannot be reliable if people give untruthful answers (Marlin, 2002). Lying is not easily detectable through the use polling and, therefore, constitutes a serious problem for pollsters. Respondents' honesty constitutes an important factor in polls and surveys, especially in the case of an election, in which the quality of the sampling is checked directly by the actual result (Reuben, 2014). <u>Dishonesty in Gathering the Information</u>: Some questionnaires are being answered only by marking with pencil a few coded blank spaces. Because of the fact that polltakers are sometimes paid with respect to the number of questionnaires completed, they can easily cheat and fill the sheets without taking interviews. Notwithstanding it is a risky method, checkups are not always such strong to guarantee integrity (Marlin, 2002). Michael Wheeler gives an example in his book by presenting the case in 1968, when 'New York Times' commissioned 'Gallup' to conduct a survey regarding the attitudes of Harlem residents. Since the tabulated data were submitted to 'New York Times' for publication, a pleased editor decided to get a story about some of the residents interviewed. However, the reporters sent could not find dwellings at seven of the twenty three addresses that had been given by Gallup. Apart from this, five more alleged respondents could not be traced, although their addresses existed. Following that, the 'Times' newsman learned that even the rest of the interviews were not all legitimate, as in one occasion the poll-taker had discussed with four people playing cards and incorporated all their responses into one interview. 17 Biased or Incompetent Interpretation of Answers: This factor refers to inaccurate conclusions based on polls. A failure to consider the polling theory and its methodological weaknesses is usually related to a deliberate attempt to mislead. Nevertheless, Randal Marlin emphasizes that "there may also be errors stemming, not from malevolence, but from wishful thinking or sheer ignorance". The author brings the example of a youth group in Canada, Katimavik¹⁸, which received public funding by the Liberal government. Its funds were cut off in 1984, when the Conservatives came to power; one of the reasons was that the

¹⁷ Wheeler, Lies, Damn Lies and Statistics, pg. 111

¹⁸ It is a registered charity which educates Canadian youth through volunteer work

group was vilified in the press for taking drugs. However, one of them sent a letter to the 'Ottawa Citizen' explaining that the interpretation of a poll regarding the use of drugs was biased. The writer outlined that one of the questions was "Are you aware of anyone having taken drugs during the period as participants of the program?" . Based on the answers, the report concluded that 55 per cent admitted to taking drugs. Subsequently, the sender of the letter pointed out that supposing the result was reliable, the conclusion should have been: "55 per cent of the participants are aware of the fact that a least one person has taken drugs". ¹⁹ Accordingly, there are occasions when media favoring a certain person or policy promote polls supporting that position. They intentionally ignore methodological limitations of the specific poll or other polls presenting a contrary view (Marlin, 2002).

<u>Fluctuation of Opinion</u>: Even if polls are properly executed, they present only the current public opinion at a given time. It is commonly observed that public attitude is affected by the news and the series of events. Especially in politics, exit polls cannot predict or measure voters' change of view. Randal Marlin argues that politicians may count on favorable polls and, therefore, call for an election. However, this may create disappointment and a shift to voters' opinion particularly if the election is called earlier than supposed, so that the candidate takes advantage of the favorable opinion. "*This resentment can be aroused, fed, and exploited by opposition parties, as former Ontario Premier David Peterson found when he lost the election he called in 1990*" (Marlin, 2002).

Deliberate Attempts to Manipulate Polls: Since prominent events seem to affect public opinion, people holding or seeking for power may manufacture such events (Marlin, 2002). Such a case occurred when Charles Colson tried to improve President Richard Nixon's ranking in polls. According to author Wheeler, he made a profitable contract with a prominent pollster so that the last one exposes merely positive polls. Wheeler also reports that Nixon had a source inside the Gallup organization by the time of 1968 campaign. This allowed him to be informed when surveys were going to be conducted and, consequently, arrange his activities in order to have the maximum impact on polls (Wheeler, 1976).

Bogus (Unscientific) Polls: A legitimate poll is based on scientific sampling to

_

¹⁹ The letter- writer argues that the group responded affirmatively because there had been a participant using drugs that was later asked to leave. Source: Jimmy Edwards, letter, *Ottawa Citizen*, 31 March 1986

measure opinions and behaviors of a population. On the other hand, bogus polls include unscientific (and therefore, unreliable) methodology to determine public opinion, as well as other practices, similar to polls, designed for other purposes rather than legitimate research (Lavrakas, 2008). Various techniques are used to make unscientific assessments of opinion and produce "pseudo-polls". Paul Lavrakas argues that this sort of polls is problematic regarding its data quality. Bogus polls are usually conducted and publicized by media and other organizations "with a serious intent to influence public opinion" (Marlin, 2002).

2. Statistics

According to Huff (1954), there are four identifiable figures of deception in the usage of statistics; the *Well-Chosen Average*, the *Semi-Attached Figure*, the ''Gee Whiz'' *Graph* and. the *One-Dimensional Figure*

<u>The Well-Chosen Average</u>: The word "average" is primarily preferred by many experts or pollsters in order to misguide and influence the general public opinion since this term is deceptive by its own and has a very unclear and loose meaning. Not many individuals know that there are actually three averages; the mean, the median and the mode. The mean is the sum of the quantities, divided by the numbers of quantities that have been chosen; the median is the middle point of a data sample that separates the higher half of numbers from the lower half, when those numbers ranked in order and the mode is the most frequently appearing number in a data sample. Due to their similarity, inexperienced people are incapable of recognizing the differences and are led on false and unreliable conclusions. Thus, the "average" that is selected can alter the meaning of the data, as the "average" that is presented may differ significantly depending on whether the mean, the median or the mode is displayed (Huff, 1954). Therefore, pollsters, by using a different kind of average each time, can trick, deceive and manipulate people beliefs and perspectives by simply twisting the real facts according to their own benefits and purposes. In other words, an undefined "average" is meaningless, and for that reason it is essential to examine which kind of average someone is referring to.

The Semi-Attached Figure: 'If you can't prove what you want to prove, demonstrate something else and pretend that they are the same thing" (Huff, 1954). The semi-attached figure is a useful tool that can be utilized in circumstances when the writer

aims to confuse people by presenting distorted data, in such a way that the real evidence is concealed and the public is deluded, taking advantage of that situation for their own benefits. In particular, attaching two statistical data that seem to be identical, but they are actually irrelevant, and creating a comparison among them may lead to a valid statistical implication which is literally false, and produce, by extension, incorrect assumptions, misguidance and mistaken beliefs. It should be noted that this statistical collision confuses the human mind and it is impossible an inexperienced individual to notice the differences. Because of being undetectable, the semi-attached figure is clearly used as a strategy by experts who have the intention to deceive and misinform people, in order to accomplish a desirable objective (Huff, 1954, Marlin, 2013). The Gee Whiz Graph: The "Gee-Whiz" graph is a method frequently used. The majority of people does not prefer numbers and tries to avoid them with any cost, and when the words are inadequate to present a point of view, the writers apply another method for that purpose by creating pictures which are more accessible to the public. Moreover, the use of graphics and pictures with adjustable scales gives a highly chance to deform and alter the message. The representation of the graphic-picture, in such a way that there seem to be small or no changes in relation to the original form, allows the readers to make their own assumptions, without any valid or reliable evidence, even though the final result may be totally ambiguous and unclear. According to Huff, there are numerous methods and techniques to manipulate and modify a graphicpicture. This device is commonly used by companies when the present digital data referring to their performance. More specifically, the basic trick of this misrepresentation is to deceive public's perception by selecting the most preferable poor data from the past and compare them with the most favorable data from the present, in order to enhance an organization's profile, eliminate antagonism and defame the competitors. Accordingly, that process can be reversed, depending on the current state of preference. In that case, the chosen data from the past will be good in comparison with the present data that will be poor, so that the propagandist may achieve the desirable outcome by minimizing the organization's errors and maximizing its accomplishments. However, if people become aware of that situation and begin to improve their knowledge about that matter, there is a great risk that this effort of deception fails entirely (Huff, 1954, Marlin, 2013).

<u>The one- dimensional figure</u>: The one-dimensional figure is another strategy which may also be misleading by the increase or the decrease of a pictorial representation.

The one-dimensional figure usage is occurred when someone is using a figure-symbol instead of numbers, and this figure is not illustrated to the same and realistic scale with the initial numbers that have been provided. This popular method misguides and misleads the public by changing the width, as well as the length of a preferred selected figure in comparison to another figure that is represented. The trick of the one-dimensional figure may be deceptive as it gives an incorrect visual impression to the reader. As a result, this approach leads the individual to a false and an inaccurate conclusion about the statistical data of a given survey (Marlin, 2013).

CHAPTER TWO: BRITAIN'S EU REFERENDUM

A. Euroscepticim in Britain since 70's

The 2016 debate that led British people to the referendum and the decision on whether their country should leave or stay in the EU pivoted around issues which had been the main subject of previous intense debates, almost fifty years ago. In this extent, 2016 referendum was not the first of its kind since almost the same questions had been asked forty years earlier (Davis, 2017). According to Davis, the origins of Britain's detached attitude to the rest of Europe are traced back to the Roman Empire and Hundred Years' War, as well as to the Reformation and Henry VIII's break with Rome and the 'Glorious Revolution'.

Great Britain's vision to adopt a constitutional monarchy set it against the absolutist regimes in the rest of the continent. It could be claimed that the notion of Euroscepticism derives from the very creation of Britain's state. The sense of difference and division from the 'Other', such as the other neighbor and or the other rival patriotism, prevailed in English and hence British nationalism. Historically, for British people this 'Other' has mainly been European (Davis, 2017).

Wellings agrees that the fundamental development and verbalization of the anti-European ideology, which sees 'Europe' as the vital institution responsible for the English decline, originates from the past. Consequently, the principles of the modern English nationalism cannot be understood explicitly in political terms, but they can be explained through the understanding of the past. To this context, an analysis of the arguments used regarding the past in withstanding the European integration could shed light to contemporary association between the English nationalism and Euroscepticism (Wellings, 2012).

The foundations of the English nationalism's resurgence were set in two main ways by the debates on the accession in the European Economic Community (EEC) in the late 60's and 70's. Firstly, it was repeatedly argued that Britain should defend its Parliamentary sovereignty, whose continuity and significance could not really be understood by Continentals. And secondly, this kind of arguments led to the fusion of two notions, the Parliamentary sovereignty with the popular one, through the device of a referendum (Wellings, 2012). Yet, Wellings points out that other considerations also enhanced the skeptical position towards EU integration, many of which might simply rely on prejudice and unverified reports. As an example, the author cites a draft pamphlet by the businessman A.G.Elliot, who argues against entering the EEC on the following grounds: "I visited France on a 2,000 mile business trip and everywhere (except among the peasants) I found half the companies and people I dealt with tried to cheat me. As a recent television program proved this sort of thing does not happen to foreign visitors to England... and while I have spoken about the French, people tell me Italians are worse" 20. Correspondingly, Great Britain's long-term bonds with the Empire and Commonwealth were a vital reason that generated the disinclination towards a closer economic and political integration with European countries. This became particularly obvious after the victory of Labour in 1974 general election, when Prime Minister Harold Wilson as the head of the government was inevitably committed to declare a referendum "on the re-negotiated terms of Britain's involvement in the EEC" (Wellings, 2012). Wilson's conviction was that Europe was directly related with threat and risk, while the Commonwealth offered support by holding family and friendly ties with Britain. Consequently, the possibility of Britain's accession in the EEC originated concerns and fears about potential costs for both sides, especially for New Zealand which would be the biggest loser of the Commonwealth members if that deal was agreed. Nevertheless, these great ties of partnership with Commonwealth were not such crucial for the development of English nationalism, as the importance of the protection of Parliamentary sovereignty. More specifically, during the upcoming referendum in 1975, the most enduring concern of the public and political class about the UK's entry in the EEC was linked to the authority and

²⁰ Letter/pamphlet from A G Elliot to Shore, SHORE/9/44 [Miscellaneous, 1971]

governance. The potential association with the powerful nations of Europe and the prospect of control being exercised over Britain brought great apprehension and the crowd's upheaval. As Wellings highlights, the last time British people faced these concerns was during World War II, when some of these nations fought against Britain. As a result, United Kingdom's fears of losing its autonomy and supremacy as a nation were dominant.

Notably, since this point, Labour Party was the only side largely opposed to European integration, as the Conservatives and the Liberals used to support a deal with the European Economic Community. According to Wellings, the left-wing regarded the EEC as a "pro-big business", however their objections were also based on the matters of sovereignty and history. To this extend, Ron Leighton²¹ argued that "Sovereignty is not a reactionary concept. It is our most precious possession, as those countries in the world without it today would testify" (Leighton, 1971). He continued by stating, "Our present liberties and freedoms in Britain were fought for and achieved by our forefathers in a long struggle (...). Our present MPs have inherited these rights and liberties, and now they are custodians responsible for handing them on to future generations. They certainly have no mandate to surrender or abandon our right to self-government and self-determination to the apparatus in Brussels and would never be forgiven for doing so" (Leighton, 1971). Apart from this, it should be noted that many of their arguments derived also from a skeptical attitude towards the EEC's framework, since it was merely seen as a capitalist and Christian Democratic structure. Viewing the events in chronological order, after the Treaty of Rome was signed by PM Ted Health in 1972 and Britain entered into the EEC, a specific political group gave prominence to the issue of the referendum. That group was called the 'Anti-Marketeers' and was mainly – but not entirely – comprised by members of the Labour Party. Labour came to power, after winning both elections in 1974, by advocating the importance of Britain's autonomy and the requirement of a referendum regarding the "continued UK involvement under renegotiated terms of accession" (Wellings, 2012). Due to this public declaration, it was decided that a referendum would be held on the 6th of June 1975.

Despite the fact that the 'Anti-Marketeers' were the first ones to fuse the Parliamentary and popular sovereignty, Enoch Powell – the ex-Conservative MP – was the one that

-

²¹ Director of the Labour Party's Committee for Safeguards on the Common Market

clearly associated national identity with sovereignty. During the referendum campaign, Powell outlined that "parliamentary sovereignty is the form in which we are accustomed to asserting our national independence", adding that Parliamentary sovereignty was also "the fact for which men have fought and died, that the laws in their country are made only by the institutions of their country and in Britain that they are made only by the parliamentary institutions of our country" (Powell, 1975). In the run-up to the referendum, these debates demonstrated that the British identity was founded upon and expressed with respect to the uniqueness of Parliament. According to their perspective, the UK's legislature was particularly important, and distinct from other institutions, due to its historical foundation and its endurance and continuity throughout the 20th century. It was highly thought that the Continental Europeans were not able to understand this notion because, as the anti-Market National Referendum Campaign argued, they were "more used to giving up their institutions" than British people (National Referendum Campaign, 1975, Wellings, 2012).

Consequently, the core and comprehension of England's past became a populist issue and the main topic of the referendum in 1975. Apparently, through this innovative device people could vote and decide upon this significant matter.

Nevertheless, the whole referendum procedure "was also designed to preserve the Labour Party from splitting over the issue of Europe" (Hennessy, 2001). Labour Party took advantage of that situation and tried to resolve the protracted disputes over Europe's integration by inducing the electorate to make the final decision. Ultimately, the 'Anti-Marketeers' argued to the public that the referendum was related to "whether or not we remain free to rule ourselves in our own way" (National Referendum Campaign, 1975), while the government's campaign backing a 'Yes' vote stressed out material interests by downplaying the threat to sovereignty: "Today we are even more dependent on what happens outside. Our trade, our jobs, our food, our defence cannot wholly be within our own control. That is why so much of the argument about sovereignty is a false one (...) If we came out, the Community would go on taking decisions which affect us vitally – but we should have no say in them" (Britain in Europe, 1975). Remarkably, British people were more persuaded by the arguments referring to vital material benefits, as the memories of the wartime still remained vivid: "Britain, as a country which cannot feed itself, will be safer in the Community which is almost self-sufficient in food" (Britain in Europe, 1975). Nonetheless, these debating points contributed significantly to the emergence of a national identity connected with

Parliamentary sovereignty by giving a political character to these feelings. As far as the Conservative Party is concerned, it was observed that their commitment to European integration had been diminishing through the time. According to Andrew Geddes, Conservative's pro-European views were based on a "rather narrow tradebased idea of European integration" which could not be adapted to the new challenging plans for political and economic integration introduced in the 1980's (Geddes, 2004). Indeed, Margaret Thatcher, who campaigned for a positive vote in 1975, sought to adjust the European Community's regulation to the Britain's standards when she became a Prime Minister. Her initial negotiations with the European counterparts were solely related to the budget rebate, but later her uncompromising policies and aggressive rhetoric concerning the European integrative measures revealed her intentions (Wellings, 2012, Bismarck, 2016). Undoubtedly, after the Single European Act (SEA) in 1987, the Conservative Party seemed to make tremendous attempts to reform and improve the European Community according to Great Britain's recent liberal profile. However, the roots of the "Euroscepticism" phenomenon can be basically traced in Thatcher's efforts to modify the Conservative Party and Britain itself since 1975. More specifically, Thatcher's viewpoints regarding British sovereignty created divisions within the Conservative Party, as well as, within the United Kingdom itself (Wellings, 2012). In particular, the idea that "government should step in and replace organic and spontaneous relationships by regimentation from above" claimed Thatcher, "is alien to the Anglo-Saxon tradition" (Thatcher, 1977).

Similarly to what occurred during Labour's referendum in 1975, internal concerns emerged once again about Britain's autonomy and the processing European integration, by creating eventually significant unfavorable attitudes towards the EEC. This negative stance also initiated a 'battle of ideas' and intense arguments on the relationship between the individual and the state in Britain (Wellings, 2012). Since 1979, the Conservative Party worked to transform Thatcherite principles into political and social reality.

Margaret Thatcher's philosophy concerning the 'individualistic anti-bureaucratism' was officially made public in her Bruges Speech in 1988. Thatcher referred extensively to the future of the European Community and, with this speech, she aimed to stop this 'foreign power' of deteriorating the national and individual liberty. Her most trenchant argument was that "We have not successfully rolled back the frontiers of the state in

Britain, only to see them re-imposed at a European level" (Thatcher, 1988, Bismarck, 2016). Subsequently, her viewpoints regarding the political, economic and social growth of European Community disclosed Britain's sense of superiority, especially with respect to government's system – "if I were an Italian, I might prefer rule from Brussels too" (Thatcher, 1995). In addition, her statements revealed the close relation of British way of life with the institutional character of the state and the wide concern that this relation may be affected by the European integration: "British democracy, parliamentary sovereignty, the common law, our traditional sense of fairness, our ability to run our own affairs in our own way" might be "subordinated to a remote European bureaucracy, resting on very different traditions" (Thatcher, 1995, Wellings, 2012).

A combination of Euroscepticism and xenophobia also emerged due to additional developments and changes within the EEC in late 80s, especially the German reunification. Margaret Thatcher's initiatives for meetings and discussions about German national identity – namely at Chequers in March 1990 - as well as the fact that Nicholas Ridley characterized the EC as 'German racket' demonstrated suspicions originated from the recent war-experience with Germany a few decades before (Ramsden, 2006). According to Thatcher views, Germany since 1871 had been changing directions "unpredictably between aggression and self-doubt", therefore including post-War Germany within the European Unity would succeed only worsening and not solving 'the German problem' (Thatcher, 1995). To this extent, for Thatcher, a re-unified Germany inside a powerful EC constituted the worst scenario (Volkery, 2009). Remarkably, although Thatcher was initially isolated in her concerns, Conservative Party's inclination to think the EC as a threatening alliance of former enemies started to strengthen. In line with the above, the press reported in great extent the Single Market's regulation and its impact on the United Kingdom, implying the existence of European threat with respect to Parliament's sovereignty, and consequently the core of popular life.

In 1990, during the battle for Conservative's leadership, the issue of Europe amplified the divisions within the party. Despite the various efforts of the pro-European wing in the Conservative Party to amend the anti-European feelings, a sense of Euroscepticism had overrun the party. This suggested that John Major, the new Prime Minister, had to deal with those Eurosceptic sentiments, when at the same time there were negotiations in Maastricht about the political project of European Union (Wellings, 2012). Once

again, debates on EU structure and integration were based on the wartime and the threat that Britain faced by Nazi Germany and its allies. For example, in line with this, The Spectator published a Paul Johnson's paper declaring that "what the row over the Maastricht Treaty has brought to the surface is the salient fact that Britain's real enemy is not Germany but France (...) where hatred of Britain and the individual freedom it stands for is a religion" (Johnson, 1992).

Correspondingly, Conservative Eurosceptics expressed their concerns about the corrosion of democracy resulting from being an underrepresented and not really understood part of a centralized political union (Wellings, 2012). This indicated the fact that European integration was gradually raising a sense of discrimination regarding the issue of sovereignty. Even worse, it was believed that the European Union intended to impose on the United Kingdom specific political rights and freedoms, opposed to Britain's conception. Based on this, Bill Cash and Iain Duncan Smith - leading Eurosceptics - blamed the Chancellor of Germany, Helmut Kohl, for promoting "a system of authoritarian and bureaucratic European government which would extinguish the opportunity to disagree" (Cash and Duncan Smith, 1996). Furthermore, they both argued by stressing the 'German Problem' that the intense interference of Germany in the balanced function of EU might "destabilize Europe and the world well into the next millennium" (Cash and Duncan Smith, 1996).

The mentality of viewing Anglo-European relations in respect of the past had become by 1996 so deep-rooted that momentous Anglo-European interplays were described as conflicts. The late 80s and 90s debates regarding the European integration deepened the connection made "between the nation, the past and the defence of sovereignty" (Wellings, 2012). What is more, the added element of English individualism to the above allowed the increased criticisms of the EU for constraining, and not insuring, liberty.

In 1997, New Labour Party came to power and one of their first and most notable actions was to delegate power to Scotland, Wales, London and Northern Ireland. Remarkably, during the 1990s, a kind of English nationalism started to be produced because of this uneven devolved structure of Britain. This type of nationalism, according to Philip Resnick, is characterized by 'hubris' – excessive pride and arrogance – and is usually traced in national majorities of former imperial states. In contrast, he claims that the feeling which characterizes the national minorities is 'melancholy' (Resnick, 2008). In England, this supposed English nationalism was

based on Eurosceptic ideas, or at least the philosophy of Euroscepticism could embrace opinions about 'national decline' – resulting particularly from open borders, the bureaucratic EU regulation and foreign corrosion of the United Kingdom's sovereignty. A combination of Resnick's two descriptions – 'hubristically melancholic' – could properly define that English nationalism in the beginning of 21st century, when "a nostalgia for the past (was) combined with an increasingly organized and popular anti-European politics" (Wellings, 2012).

It is also worth noting that, initially the general elections in 1997 caused a further separation between the two major parties on the issue of Europe. At the beginning, the difference between the Conservatives and New Labour was profound. After the long period of Conservative Euroscepticism, New Labour seemed to bring some 'fresh air' in the political area. During its 1980's and 1990's 'modernization', Labour Party abandoned its 1983 manifesto commitment to withdraw from the EEC. Notably, Antony Blair was the most pro-European Prime Minister since Heath (Gamble, 2003).

With respect to the relations with European partners, at first they appeared to be utterly friendly. However, this goodwill aimed to Britain's commitment for cooperation "within the framework of European multilateralism", as proved by the constructive attitude of the new British government when the Treaty of Amsterdam (1997) was signed and the St Mâlo Agreement (1998) between Britain and France was concluded. Nevertheless, Blair was also aware of the ''special relationship'' between Great Britain and United States of America and after September of 2001, he demonstrated an inclination towards a closer Atlanticist cooperation that seemed to justify all of General De Gaulle's worries and doubts about Britain's engagement in Europe. In addition, alongside with the pro-American attitude, Britain's refusal to entrust and accept the euro currency, created a strong belief that UK was reluctant —or incapable- to decide between America and Europe (Wellings, 2012).

Moreover, it was the contradictory reactions of the foreign ministries of Europe to the invasion of Iraq led by the US, which costed Brair by damaging his European reputation. More specifically, his decision to back the US brought United Kingdom back into the 'awkward' camp regarding the European matters. The primary invasion against Iraq, in 2003, turned American, British and Australian armed forces against some European countries, such as Germany, Belgium and France, who supported Iraq. However, the Anglophone countries had assistance from Spain, Italy and Denmark.

That diplomatic argument led US Secretary of State Donald Rumsfeld to separate Europe into 'old' and 'new', with Britain belonging to the second one. According to Wellings, this division could also be regarded as 'core' and 'no-core' Europe, with Britain being part of the 'noncore' group (Wellings, 2012).

As it has been indicated by opinion polls back in 1975, the majority of people did not vote UK to stay in the EEC because they strongly supported Britain's continuing engagement in the European Community. On the contrary, their decision was based on the fact that they had no other available option (Boase Massimi Pollitt Partnership, 1975). Tom Naim argues that the loss of "greatness" – a term used to describe Britain's desire to project its power to the rest of the world – created much Euroscepticism (Naim, 2002, Wellings, 2012). As mentioned above, public's concerns about the way Britain's power and freedom of action were restricted within an enlarged EU were gradually increasing. Apparently, the European Union symbolized the Britain's decline and, to this extend, it could be accused for everything that might go wrong within the state; from unregulated immigration to bureaucratic waste. It was these exact convictions on which the United Kingdom Independence Party (UKIP) was based in order to be formed. UKIP members articulated the party's "Five Freedoms", including the first principle which was freedom from the EU (UKIP, 2004). The United Kingdom Independence Party (UKIP), which was established in 1993, had as primary goal to ensure that Britain will withdraw from the European Union in order to protect and maintain its sovereignty. Notably, there are two significant arguments of UKIP political party regarding their manifest, which are worth mentioning. Firstly, they strongly believed that if Britain left the EU, it would become once again "a normal self-governing democracy" (UKIP, 1997), and secondly that the European Union would increasingly force Britain "to abandon the centuries old democratic and legal systems that have been embraced by countries throughout the world" (UKIP, 2004). Notwithstanding that party's name and policies indicated that this was a British party, in fact UKIP's campaign strategies and electoral successes – especially in the 2004 European elections – lead to a different assessment. UKIP focused its efforts to be elected particularly in England, where it achieved eventually to win all of its twelve seats. Likewise, in the same elections, Conservative's twenty-four seats – out of their twenty-seven won – were gathered in England. Although, it would be inaccurate to claim that Eurosceptic attitudes are only observed in England, it can be argued that Euroscepticism is "a bigger vote winner" in England in comparison to the

other parts of the United Kingdom (Wellings, 2012). Furthermore, it is interesting that a possible comparison between the *de facto* English nationalist party and the Scottish National Party would reveal significant differences. The latter did not consider European integration to be a threat, like the English nationalists. Instead, European integration was viewed as an opportunity that offered guarantee and augmentation to Scottish sovereignty (Ichijo, 2004). This suggests that the meaning of defending sovereignty could be perceived in different ways. Indeed, in the following 2009 European elections, the British National Party (BNP) also secured two seats in England, by advocating the issues of anti-Europeanism and anti-immigration in terms of maintaining sovereignty.

In conclusion, the association between Euroscepticism and English nationalism is highly important for many reasons. First of all, the debates regarding the Britain's accession to the EEC and its continuous level of engagement in the European integration process concentrate on the role of sovereignty – especially the Parliamentary one – as a pivotal aspect in English nationalism. Secondly, the internal policies, notions and norms about Parliamentary sovereignty have acquired a popular dimension through the referenda promoted by Eurosceptics. This inevitably led to the fusion between Parliamentary and popular sovereignty. It should be also noted that even though Euroscepticism may find supporters all over the United Kingdom, the different policies and strategies of nationalist parties towards the EU signify that Eurospepticism is more popular in England. Last but not least, the views and understandings of the past and the protection of Parliament's sovereignty bolster and reinforce each other. The conclusion is that Euroscepticism may basically be a sort of English nationalism, yet this English nationalism expresses typically the Britishness (Wellings, 2012).

B. Brexit vs. Bremain: Methods, Techniques and Rhetoric

The United Kingdom faced a referendum wherein Britons had to decide whether Britain would remain in or leave the European Union (EU). Referendum or plebiscite is called the procedure in which every person of voting age can participate, providing a yes or no answer to a legislative or policy query, directing democracy in action with their vote preference. The side which gets the majority of more than half of all votes wins. The Brexit referendum was held on 23rd of June 2016. Noteworthy, PM David

Cameron had promised to the public that if he won the 2015 general election, a plebiscite would be held, arguing that it was time to settle the European question in British politics. Moreover, Cameron was responding to the requests of his own Conservative Members of Parliament (MPs) and the UK Independence Party (UKIP), who demonstrated that British people had not given the opportunity to express their views about Britain's European membership since 1975. They also claimed that the EU was progressively exercising more control over the daily lives of British citizens. David Cameron had also decided to negotiate an agreement with other EU leaders to alter the terms of Britain's EU membership before the official announcement of the referendum (Bartlett, 2016).

The official campaign group for staying in the EU was known as 'Britain Stronger In Europe' — or informally 'Remain'. It was chaired by Stuart Rose and endorsed by the Chancellor George Osborne and the Prime Minister David Cameron. There were also additional campaigns supporting remaining in the EU, including 'Conservatives In', 'Labour In for Britain', 'Greens for a Better Europe', '#INtogether (Liberal Democrats)', 'Scientists for EU', 'Universities for Europe', 'Environmentalists for Europe' and 'Another Europe is Possible'. On the other hand, the official campaign supporting Brexit was 'Vote Leave', after a contest for the designation with 'Leave.EU'. It was fronted by the Secretary of Justice Michael Gove, the Conservative MP Boris Johnson and Labour MP Gisela Stuart. Each side found support from across the political spectrum, as well as from businesses, newspapers, trade unions and prominent individuals. Both of the official campaigns deployed a variety of methods and techniques in order to manipulate and shape public's opinion. This section examines the strategy of the two opposing sides that led to the outcome of the Britain's EU referendum in 2016.

1. Membership, Designation and Campaigns' Strategy

1.a. 'Leave' Campaign

One of the most significant personalities that played a vital role in the Out campaign's preparation was Dominic Cummings. Due to his previous success as a campaign director at Business for Sterling, which assisted to retain Britain out of the euro, he was

considered as one of the most intelligent and capable professional of his generation on public policy. The political strategist and lobbyist of Out campaign, Matthew Elliott, selected Cummings because of his strongly Eurosceptic views, his organizational skills and his determination to run a successful campaign. Already since 2014 Elliott had hired Cummings in order to conduct polls and create focus groups regarding how an Out campaign might be formed. This study was highly essential because it proved that the public views differentiated from London elite's concerns, leading him to realize that this was the key factor of winning the referendum. More specifically, Cummings concluded that Europe was totally unpopular and identified that people did not like the foreigners, abominated the bankers and thought more money should be spent to NHS (Shipman, 2017). Furthermore, he had correctly foreseen that immigration and control issues would affect people's position in the possibility of a referendum. He outlined his views in an article, stating that "the combination of immigration, benefits, and human rights dominates all discussion of politics and Europe. People think that immigration is 'out of control' [and] puts public services under intolerable strain" ²². In the case of a referendum, the main dilemma in public's choice would be related to the risk of an economic disaster, or, the amount of money that could be saved by controlling immigration. However, he realized that it was preferable to neutralize the issue of immigration instead of focus on it – and give more attention on other arguments to convince the electorate during the official OUT campaign. Cumming's decision was also based on the fact that Farage and Ukip party would inevitably refer to the immigration, so he preferred to give emphasis on other crucial aspects to get a hearing from the media.

Furthermore, during the formation of the campaign's strategy, Cummings cooperated with Paul Stephenson, who was British Bankers Association's communication director and former special adviser at Transport Department and the Department Health. Remarkably, he was also one of the most skillful and efficient media operators of Conservative Party and highly appreciated by journalists. As a passionate Eurosceptic he had involved on a variety anti-Brussels campaigns. Stephenson agreed with Cummings to highlight the immigration issue close to the polling day and only after they had won the designation. By following that policy, they achieved not to be associated with Farage's party and be characterized as racists by the electorate.

_

Dominic Cummings, *The Times*, 26 June 2014

In accordance with the above, Cummings posted extended reports in his blog, referring to Europe being detrimental for democracy based on scientific endeavors and descriptions on how the civil service was operating (Shipman, 2017). It could be indicated that this was his first effort to apply Propaganda, since his claims included specific persuasive techniques. More specifically, experts' affirmation could be considered as 'appeal to authority', while he 'pinpointed as enemy' the European Union and referred to democracy by making use of the 'glittering generality' device. It is also worth mentioning that one of Cummings priorities, when he started to form the campaign team, was to approach and integrate Business for Britain as a Brexit outfit.

On the other hand, Farage was convinced that Mathew Elliott and Business for Britain would not eventually commit for Brexit and took the initiative to launch an alternative Brexit campaign with his own team. He strongly believed that forming an organization as soon as possible would provide Brexit camp valuable time to prepare efficiently against Remainers. Farage and Chris Bruni-Lowe, the campaign expert of Ukip party, proposed Arron Banks to set up this operation.

Arron Banks, a successful businessman and former donator of Tory Party, became known in political background in 2014, when he changed sides and started supporting the Ukip. After the general elections, he offered £1 million to the party, but Farage and Bruni-Lowe suggested him instead, to found and invest in a referendum campaign. As a result, on 21st of June, Banks declared officially on *Sunday Telegraph* paper that he intended to fund £20 million for creating a leave campaign called '*No thanks we are going global*'. Banks' first notable action was to hire Gerry Gunster, a political consultant in the US, known for his great achievement of winning more than thirty referendums across the world.

By the time the second 'No' campaign had been organized, the first one had not even been set up. However, Cummings' team got motivated in June, after Cameron outlined briefly his requirements at the European Council in Brussels. It was observed that many parts of the Bloomberg's speech were missing, as well as some of the commitments that Cameron had publicly made. Taking advance of that incident, Cummings seized the opportunity to present Cameron as unreliable and by using this 'ad hominem argument' to urge the donors to shift direction and support the 'Out' campaign. Moreover, just before Cameron's summit press conference, the *Guardian* published an article exposing Cameron's intention to rely his referendum campaign

mainly on the risks of Brexit – following the same tactic he had deployed in the Scottish referendum, known as ''Project Fear''. ²³ The story was based on a leaked report, whose source was suspected to be the Italian embassy, which described a private conversation among the prime minister and a fellow EU leader. Elliott's spin doctor, Rob Oxley revealed the story to the MPs, especially to those being Eurosceptic. Additionally, Elliot convinced 'Business for Britain' to join the 'Out' camp by the end of July, who were determined since then to anticipate until Cameron's renegotiation, in order to promote their expectations on the final deal.

Additionally, one more noteworthy initiative that Cummings took to convince the undecided public was to introduce the possibility of a second referendum after voting for out, in which they could decide upon a new and more profitable deal with EU. More specifically he claimed at his blog that, "If you want to say "Stop", vote no and you will get another chance to vote on the new deal", drawing instantly the media's attention. Notably, London mayor Boris Johnson was excited about the doublereferendum idea and he publicly approved it at the end of June, explaining that it would prove to Brussels that Britain was determined for an EU reform.²⁴ Incidents of high importance occurred in September, starting with the creation of 'ExCom' – an exploratory committee set up by Bernard Jenkin in order to convene more MPs – that would constitute the Leave campaign's voice within the Parliament. Following that, the two official sides, which were committed to Brexit, decided to rename their campaigns in accordance with Electoral Commission's final decision to change the wording of the referendum question so that people could choose between Remain/Leave instead of Yes/No. The name of Banks' campaign was modified from "the KNOW" to "Leave EU" while Elliot changed his campaign's logo from a simple 'NO' to 'Vote Leave' because it implicated an action. Eventually, Elliott along with Cummings concluded that the complete name of the slogan would be "Vote Leave. Take Control", based on Cummings' ascertainment that "Let's Take Back Control" is a strong argument within focus groups (Shipman, 2017).

Cummings decided to announce the beginning of his campaign operation by uploading a video on social media instead of holding a press conference. His decision was based on the fact that he did not have yet enough economic and political support. The posted

_

²⁴ Tim Shipman, *Sunday Times*, 28 June 2015

²³ David Cameron plans EU campaign focusing on 'risky' impact of UK exit, *Guardian*, 26 June 2015

video described that, "Every week, the United Kingdom sends £350 million of taxpayers' money to the EU. That's the cost of a fully staffed, brand-new hospital, or looked at another way, that's £20 billion per year" and continued by quoting 'Vote Leave, let's take back control' (Shipman, 2017). Apparently, this was an attempt to influence public's opinion by employing 'appeal to emotion' and evoke compassion regarding the possible establishment of a hospital and enhance the outrage for the money spent on the EU.

Furthermore, besides their internal war, 'Vote Leave' and 'Leave.EU' had significant differences regarding their strategy and the way they approached the voters. The Electoral Commission had to designate only one outfit to represent and run officially the Leave campaign. Vote Leave's insight was to be a cross-party campaign, yet without any links to the Ukip, more based on the economics than immigration and target swing voters, particularly the centre ones. On the other hand, Leave.EU team managed to take advantage of Bank's financial and business background and mobilize his Bristol call centers to persuade people to vote for Brexit. They also created an impressive and challenging social media operation and targeted mainly Labour voters, people on the right of the Conservative Party and those who had never voted before (Shipman, 2017). In contrast with Vote Leave, the assumption of Leave.EU was that the centre voters would back Remain. Moreover, Bank's vision was to run a Trump-style campaign by employing Trump's strategy of deliberately making an outrageous claim to "create as much noise as possible" (Shipman, 2017). The campaign's strategist, Wigmore, would highlight later such comments made by Banks or Farage on social media. He admitted in an interview that "If people are outraged, you can do one of two things. You can ignore it and then it dies, or you can react and take it down, not apologize, but then see what the reaction is. When you take it down it's like an admission of guilt, so you get the double hit with the press. Then you put it back up and get the treble hit(...). In some cases, within an hour, we would change a headline on Facebook or Twitter maybe five or six times, just to gauge the reaction. We were monitoring how many people looked and shared it, where it went, and reacted accordingly" (Shipman, 2017). With respect to 'Vote Leave's strategy, there were specific instructions inside the campaign on how to disrupt and disorientate the opponents. Cummings provided guidance to his colleagues and advised them to get in the enemy's 'OODA loop'. The term 'OODA loop' comes from the American military strategy and stands for 'observe, orient, decide, and act' (Boyed, 1995, Shipman, 2017). Based on this strategy, he urged

his team to take actions more quickly than the adversaries in order to operate in an unpredictable way and generate disorder and confusion to the opponents. Cummings had studied Thucydides, Clausewitz, Mao and other authors, philosophers and military leaders and was determined to run the Leave campaign following basic principles of psychological warfare. Due to his acquaintance with many people from the Downing Street and Remain campaign, he was also able to exploit the weak points of his enemies (Shipman, 2017). Subsequently, the head of strategy implemented two further plans in order to get publicity. First of all, despite the warnings of Health secretary team, he displayed the NHS logo on 'Vote Leave's leaflets and on the side of the campaign's bus. The second plan was related to Cummings' endeavour to neutralize the most influential business voice in United Kingdom, the Confederation of British Industry (CBI). In November, the campaign team organized a protest at the CBI's annual conference and gained access to the event by creating a fake company. When Cameron prepared to make his speech, they raised placards writing 'CBI=Voice of Brussels'. Additionally, a month later 'Vote Leave' made its first overt 'ad hominem attack' to Cameron, when the newspapers published that the PM might lead the Brexit campaign in case his renegotiation with Brussels was unsuccessful. More specifically, the chiefs of 'Vote Leave' replied to newspaper journalists and referred to Cameron as 'toxic' on the issue of Leave campaign (Shipman, 2017).

In the designation battle between 'Leave.EU' and 'Vote Leave', a third outfit was added in December 2015, called the 'Grassroots Out' (GO) and was set up by Conservatives MPs, Peter Bone and Tom Purgslove. The aim of this organization was to argue for Brexit through small-scale campaign events in village halls, town squares and street stalls. Subsequently, GO and Leave.EU resolved to cooperate and they organized a series of big rallies which proved really successful and popular (Shipman, 2017). The new campaign group was called 'GO Movement Ltd'.

Eventually in April, the Electoral Commission declared that Vote Leave would be the official 'Out' campaign and immediately after their victory, Cummings and his team unveiled a new poster in order to launch the formal campaign. It could be asserted that this poster was part of their propaganda strategy as it promised for the first time to spend on the National Health System (NHS) the entire £350 million amount of Britain's weekly contribution to the EU.

1.b. 'Remain' Campaign

One of the most distinguished figures that is worth to be mentioned regarding the operation of 'In' campaign is Andrew Cooper. His professional background as a pollster and his significant role in 'Better Together', the cross-party campaign that won the Scottish Independence referendum, led to his recruitment.

Prior to Cameron's official announcement to hold an EU referendum, Cooper's company 'Populus' was hired in order to conduct opinion polls and make a 'segmentation analysis' dividing up the public into different groups of voters with respect to their attitudes towards Europe. As a result, he identified seven discrete groups, to which gave names and constructed their profile by depicting a typical member. The first two groups were called 'Ardent Internationalists' and 'Comfortable Europhiles' and were expected to vote to remain. Cooper also estimated that they accounted for 29 per cent of the population. 'Engaged Metropolitans' constituted a third smaller group, very active on social media, which was also likely to vote to stay. On the contrary, he found two groups, called 'Strong Sceptics' and 'EU hostiles', that were determined to support 'Brexit'. 'Strong Sceptics' were mainly white people, probably over fifty-five years old and with only a secondary education. They were generally Labour supporters with some obvious Ukip tendencies, accounting for 21 per cent of the population. 'EU Hostiles' were mainly retired people and Ukip voters, making up an 11 per cent and being informed of the news by the Daily Mail. However, Cooper's target would be the two following categories. The 'Disengaged Middle', who were at the age of thirties, well-educated, from middle-class and got informed from Facebook. According to Cooper, they were not interested in politics and knew little about European Union since they thought it had a rather small impact on their lives. The final and most important group "encapsulated the rhetorical challenge the campaign faced" (Shipman, 2017). They were called 'Hearts v Heads' and were twothirds women, probably middle-aged, married or divorced with children and worked mainly part-time or in a low-paid job. They usually read newspapers and were concerned about the issue of Europe, which, however, regarded as a complex one and felt muddled and confused. The majority of them agreed with the statement "My heart says we should leave the EU, but my head says it's not a good idea". Subsequently, Cooper urged the importance of focusing mostly on those last groups upon his campaign team (Shipman, 2017).

Apart from Andrew Cooper, other driving forces constituted Will Straw, who was hired to run the operation and David Chaplin as media operator of the Remain campaign. Regarding the name of the campaign, they devised the emblematic red, white and blue 'Britain Stronger In Europe' logo. The full name was the result of market research. The word 'Britain' was substantial as it appealed to the patriotic vote, along with the three-coloured scheme. The expression 'Stronger' had a clear impact on Cooper's focus groups and 'Europe' was essential for people to perceive what the campaign really defended. It is worth to be mentioned that the opponents abbreviated the name to 'BSE' – the acronym connected with 'mad cow disease', one of the worst periods of UK-EU relations in the 1990s – in order to offend and undermine the profile of 'In' campaign.

The campaign's formal establishment required efficient cooperation with businesses and celebrities. Thus, the team recruited Gabe Winn to run the outreach work with business world, a well-known executive from the energy company Centrica, whose brother was a political producer in *Sky News*. Furthermore, 'In' campaign succeeded an extensive financial support by approaching investment banks and by getting Conservative donations (Shipman, 2017).

By the end of November, the 'Stronger In' had outlined and followed a specific strategy, all included in their plan-book called 'war book' or 'messaging bible'. According to Cooper, they had written down the segmentation and underlined their strongest messages either in a sentence, paragraph or page. The aim was to concentrate on the two persuadable groups, the 'Disengaged Middle' and the 'Heats v Heads', which Cooper estimated through statistical analysis that were susceptible to economic risk arguments. The Remainers also identified that the opponents would counter them with arguments on immigration, sovereignty and cost that were regarded as 'Stronger In's weaknesses. For this reason, they conducted focus-groups sessions to test and evaluate their precise messages and the rebuttals in order to enrich the campaign planning (Shipman, 2017).

In pursuance of the appropriate board and chairman, 'Stronger In' ended up to Stuart Rose, the former Marks & Spencer's chairman. Lucy Thomas admitted that "Stuart was exactly what we needed as a chair to make the pragmatic, reasonable and patriotic case. He had run one of the best-loved British brands and had a reputation of being a highly successful businessman as well as nice, decent bloke. He was also Eurosceptic who was rightly critical of the way the EU worked and in favor of

significant reform" (Shipman, 2017). Admittedly, the full membership of the campaign's board was formed to demonstrate breadth and experience, joining in business, political, culture, education and military establishments. Subsequently, it was declared that the three former Prime Ministers – Sir John Major, Tony Blair and Gordon Brown – along with Sir Richard Branson, the most well-known businessman, were also backing the campaign.

Last but not least, 'Stronger In' decided to appoint James McGrory as a media operator to compete against 'Vote Leave's Paul Stephenson. The referendum battleground would be characterized by the clash of two of the most qualified spin doctors of their generation.

1.c. Labour In for Britain

In the run-up to the referendum, along with the official 'In' and 'Out' campaigns, the Labour Party pronounced the formation of its own pro-EU campaign, separated from the 'Stronger In'. The main reason of this attempt derived from the opinion of many Labour politicians that during the referendum of the Scottish Independence, campaigning alongside the Conservatives proved to be a mistake. According to their point of view, Labour's involvement had a negative effect to their supporters and the party lost all but one of its Scottish seats in 2015's elections. Nevertheless, Will Straw claimed that the establishment of a shared platform between Labours and Conservatives would benefit both of them to gain votes by showing economic credibility. Additionally, he underlined that an underfunded and isolated Labour campaign might not succeed to encourage Labour supporters to vote, especially in low-turnout areas. This would consequently undermine any efforts to keep the United Kingdom in the EU.

Notwithstanding Straw's warnings, 'Labour In for Britain' was eventually launched by Alan Johnson. The new campaign used a memorable slogan called 'JIGSI', which stood for jobs, investment, growth, security and influence in the world (Shipman, 2017).

1.d. Conservatives for Britain

The declaration of the EU referendum led to a civil war within the Conservative Party.

Prior to the designation of the official Brexit campaign, many eurosceptic MPs decided to be united in running their own campaigning organization. As a result, in June 2015, Steve Baker, a Tory MP, launched 'Conservatives for Britain' (CfB). Remarkably, the 'guerrilla warfare' strategy that Steve Baker devised played a decisive role in the referendum's result. As soon as he became the chairman of CfB, he read and applied specific strategic plans described explicitly in the 'The Art of War' and 'The Thirty-Three Strategies of War' books. Baker gained the insight that all battles are won in the preparation and he deliberately used guerilla tactics against his own party leadership to succeed his aims (Shipman, 2017).

One of the first accomplishments of Baker's 'military' campaign was to persuade the Electoral Commission to modify the wording of the referendum's question. Taking as reference the cases of 1975 referendum and the Scottish plebiscite, the Eurosceptics believed that the Yes/No option on the ballot paper would benefit the 'In' campaign, since voting positively for the status quo seemed more attractive to people rather than voting 'No' (Shipman, 2017). Moreover, the importance of the question was demonstrated by the polling from ICM. More specifically, the results highlighted that when voters were asked "Should the UK remain a member of the EU?" 59 per cent answered 'Yes', while in the question "Should the United Kingdom remain a member of the European Union or leave the European Union?" only 55 per cent chose to remain. Based on that evidence, Baker urged the Commission to conduct its own research and amend the original unbalanced question, where only the 'Remain' option was clarified.

The second victory of 'Conservatives for Britain' was associated with the timing of the referendum. Cameron and ministers identified the benefits of holding the referendum on 5 May, the day when the local elections in England, Scotland and Wales were also scheduled. The Eurosceptics considered that Conservatives might run a double-sided campaign, prompting the public to vote the Tories in council elections and 'Remain' in the referendum. Along with the Labour Party, who worried that this might cost them seats in the local elections, Baker's team convinced the government to change the referendum date.

The most crucial battle was the third one that concerned the issue of 'Purdah'. "Purdah is the UK's civil service term for the time between the formal start of an election campaign and the announcement of the results" (Shipman, 2017, White, 2015). During that period, government executives and agents are not allowed to take actions or make

statements regarding the following election in order not to influence the voters In the majority of British elections there is usually a purdah period of twenty-eight days. Cameron's government intended to omit purdah rules in the EU referendum campaign, claiming that it would affect government's dealings with Brussels and many ministers might face legal action in the case of a statement on the EU (Shipman, 2017). 'Conservatives for Britain' perceived that plan as an attempt by Cameron to deploy propaganda until polling day and accused the government of bending the rules for its own benefit²⁵. Eventually, eurosceptic Conservatives cooperated with 'Vote Leave' and its research team to urge an amendment of the Referendum Bill. Due to the fact that Labour Party lined up with the SNP and the 'rebels', the amendment was ratified, constraining ministers and officials from making statements on the EU directly linked to the referendum.

Furthermore, 'Conservatives for Britain' played a vital role in Cameron's decision about neutralizing the Conservative Party on the issue of the referendum-campaign. More specifically, the Conservative board unanimously agreed in September that the party and its personnel would keep neutral stance and would not be involved in the campaigns. That decision was based on the fact that divisions might be created within the Party, since two thirds of the activists supported Brexit and were reluctant to side with Remain. The resolution had two practical consequences. Notably, the Remain campaign would not able to exploit the £7 million amount permitted by the Electoral Commission. "The equivalent of the entire budget of 'Vote Leave' was taken out of the Remain campaign by keeping the Conservative Party neutral", admitted Baker (Shipman, 2017). Moreover, the Tory MPS would not be allowed to utilize their own canvassing data in order to target voters.

Two months later, an amendment to the Bill was passed by Labour and the Liberal Democrats in the House of Lords to authorize the vote to sixteen- and seventeen-year-olds. Cameron, along with Baker's supporters, disapproved the plan. Despite the fact that it would benefit Labour in general elections, the Eurosceptics tried to avoid an influx of young people likely to vote 'Remain' (Shipman, 2017).

Last but not least, the main accomplishment of 'Conservatives for Britain' was to assure that the ministers would not be bound by collective responsibility. Cameron agreed to suspend cabinet collective responsibility during the referendum campaign

_

Why we MUSTN'T let No10 fix this vital vote, *Mail on Sunday*, 7 June 2015

and announced in January 2016 that "There will be a clear government position, but it will be open to individual ministers to take a different personal position while remaining part of the government" (Shipman, 2017). Remarkably, in a six-month period, 'Conservatives for Britain' executed efficiently Steve Baker's war strategy (Shipman, 2017).

2. The Deal

It could be considered that Cameron's renegotiation was mainly characterized by deliberate manoeuvers and was not based on a long-planned strategy (Shipman, 2017). He had pledged to British people *fundamental* reform in 2014, and outlined that the main changes in UK and EU relationship would involve; tougher immigration controls – particularly for citizens of new EU member states, additional powers to national parliaments including the ability to veto proposed EU laws, a reduction in bureaucracy for businesses along with new free-trade agreements and a lessening of the influence of European Institutions on police and courts²⁶. Consequently, the expectations of Eurosceptics had been raised.

Despite his initial determination, Prime Minister progressively moderated his demands from Brussels. This was particularly observed by Craig Oliver, Cameron's director of Communications, who toughened government's rhetoric in order to conceal this fact. Specifically in November 2015, when Cameron prepared to send a letter regarding additional details of his aims to the European Council's president, Donald Tusk, Oliver briefed the newspapers that PM might side with Brexiters supposing that his demands were not met: "If we can't reach such an agreement... we will have to think again about whether this European Union is right for us" However, after the letter was debated in the Commons, Eurosceptic MPS and journalists noticed that the requests had softened and sought to expose Cameron. This was notably illustrated in Sun's article-headline 'ARE EU KIDDING?', while the Mail published a paper with the title 'IS THAT IT, MR CAMERON?', explaining that the prime minister was "in retreat over plans to strip benefits from EU migrant workers" 28.

In fact, the major media confrontation between Downing Street and Leave campaign

_

²⁶ Ross, Tim "David Cameron: my seven targets for a new EU", The Daily Telegraph. 15 March 2014

PM could reject EU if it lends 'deaf ear', *Sunday Times*, 8 November 2015

²⁸ Is that It Mr Cameron?, *Daily Mail*, 11 November 2015

occurred in February, when the final deal was made, and shaped considerably the public views (Shipman, 2017). The last summit between Cameron and his EU partners was held on 18 February and the PM claimed to the reporters he was there to "battle for Britain". After the 31-hour marathon of negotiation, Cameron emerged to declare his accomplishment: "I believe we are stronger, safer, and better off inside a reformed EU, and that is why I will be campaigning with all my heart and soul to persuade the British people to remain" (Shipman, 2017). The slogan 'Stronger, Safer, Better off' was a creation of Remain's team, who included powerful emotional words in their script to persuade the electorate. However, the Eurosceptics agreed that Cameron did not reach their expectations and released an effective media barrage. Richard Tice, the 'Leave.EU' co-chairman, stated publicly that "The prime minister promised half a loaf, begged for a crust and came home with crumbs" (Shipman, 2017). Cameron's team realized that it would have big media coverage and asked 'Stronger In' digital group to organize a 'Twitter war room' with business leaders, MPs and other influential supporters advocating that PM had brought a good deal. Nevertheless, 'Leave' campaign's reaction and preparedness weakened Remainers' efforts. Their purposeful strategic approach succeeded in turning the print media into their natural allies focusing on what was missing from the final EU agreement. An opinion poll by ComRes shortly afterwards indicated that only 21 per cent of voters considered the deal to be good. Indeed, the Sun and the Daily Mail campaigned intensely for leaving the EU, while the *Daily Telegraph*, although it gave a fair hearing to Cameron, had links to Ukip which also backed Brexit. The Times and the Sunday Times were initially neutral but they eventually split; *The Times* for Remain and the second one for Leave. On the other hand, the Guardian and the Independent might support 'Stronger In' but their dwindling circulation, along with the kind of readers they addressed to, did not help Remainers to convince specific target-voters. Only the Mail of Sunday and the Mirror papers used to speak adequately on behalf of Remain. Furthermore, Oliver's previous work experience in BBC allowed him to intervene in the main BBC television bulletins at 6 and 10 p.m. By calling the right correspondent or editor, he was able to alter the running order of the news or the tone of the coverage (Shipman, 2017). The poor public and media reception for the deal led ultimately 'Britain Stronger In Europe' to remove it from their strategic playbook and promote instead their core messages. Due to the lack of efficient and persuasive solutions on immigration, the 'Remain' campaign decided to concentrate on economy and risk.

Finally, it should be mentioned that Brexit side gained significant advantage at that point, since six influential cabinet ministers resolved to back 'Vote Leave' for the final designation. Notably, the Secretary of State for Justice, Michael Gove, arrived together with the other five ministers at Westminster Tower after the cabinet meeting, signing a giant placard quoting 'Let's take back control'. They followed the instructions of 'Vote Leave' strategists, who concluded that having all of them with that big pledge wall would be a powerful image and an effective demonstration of strength (Shipman, 2017). In the same manner, another key figure from Conservative Party, Boris Johnson, decided to campaign to leave changing significantly the course of events across the political spectrum.

3. Project Fear

Having lost the support of the most influential MPs, David Cameron along with 'Stronger In' leaders sought to use alternative means to enhance the campaigning advantages of government.

The Prime Minister arranged personal meetings with MPs to secure they would side with Remain and 'In' campaign team tried to convince voters based on two main themes; the economy and security of Britain. Accordingly, they devised one positive message, the 'Stronger, Safer, Better Off' argument regarding the benefits of EU membership, and a negative one linked to a potential economic disaster: 'Don't risk it. Leaving the EU would be a leap in the dark.' Remarkably, they also utilized the 'testimonial' technique to affect public's opinion by publishing a letter from two hundred business leaders pointing out that "leaving the EU would deter investment and threaten jobs. It would put the economy at risk"²⁹. The letter included the signatures of well-known companies such as British Telecom, Vodafone, Marks & Spencer and Kingfisher. Correspondingly, an additional formal letter was circulated, incorporating the views of thirteen retired military commanders warning that Britain should remain in the EU to protect itself from 'grave security threats', posed mainly by Russia and Islamic State (Shipman, 2017). 'Stronger In's endeavor to persuade the electorate was completed with a letter from NGO luminaries – including Action Aid, Oxfam, Christian Aid, Save the Children and the World Wildlife Fund – claiming that the EU

-

²⁹ Brexit puts jobs at risk, say 200 business chiefs, *The Times*, 23 February 2016

membership assisted in fund efforts to deal with poverty in Africa and the humanitarian emergency in Syria (Shipman, 2017).

An issue arose when two of the army signatories accused obliquely the Remain campaign for applying propaganda. General Rose announced he had only asked to read the pro-European letter and had never endorsed it, while Lord Bramall admitted he was intimidated to sign it. However, the PR offensive had an immediate effect on public's opinion, since the surveys conducted in early March put 'Remain' ahead of 'Leave' for the first time after two months (Shipman, 2017). Due to the effectiveness of that policy, 'Stronger In' followed the same approach and published further letters and articles from entrepreneurs, former NHS chiefs, former UN Secretaries General and former intelligence executive directors backing Remain. Notably, towards the end of May, they also issued an anti-Brexit letter signed by celebrities, which urged voters to support Britain's EU membership.

Leave campaign's respond to these establishment endorsements was to adopt a rebellious attitude towards the business world. Based on the fact that none of the enterprises backed Brexit, they tried to undermine the opponent's efforts by arguing that "It's the establishment versus the real people". This was an attempt to differentiate the concerns of ordinary people from those of business administrators. Moreover, the Eurosceptics sought to apply counterpropaganda, labeling any action and every intervention by Remainers as a part of 'Project Fear'. Accordingly, they accused the government for abusing its position, particularly in April, when it was announced that £9.3 million of taxpayers' money would be used for the production and distribution of pro-EU leaflets to every country's house. The Brexiters denounced it as 'Project Fear Propaganda' (Shipman, 2017).

It could be concluded that 'Vote Leave' had mainly their own words as an offensive weapon against the weight of the establishment. In line with this, Gove deployed an aggressive rhetoric, blaming the EU for inciting the rise of 'Hitler worshippers' in Europe. Johnson also utilized the Nazi dictator as a rhetorical device but none of these attempts seemed to be really successful (Shipman, 2017). In this regard, they appeared to exploit the major authority figure - and the most respectful symbol across United Kingdom- Her Majesty the Queen. On 8 March, the *Sun* published a paper detailing an alleged quarrel between the monarch and –then deputy PM- Nick Clegg over Europe,

-

³⁰ War hero felt pressured by No.10 into signing pro Europe letter, *The Telegraph*, 24 February 2016

claiming to him that "the EU was heading in the wrong direction" (Shipman, 2017). The article also revealed another case when the queen supposedly confessed to a group of parliamentarians, "I don't understand Europe"³¹. Buckingham Palace denounced all the allegations, while Gove disclaimed responsibility for those reports. Nevertheless, the story helped Vote Leave eliminate Stronger In's media domination for a week and thwarted any government's plans to deploy the Queen for its own benefit (Shipman, 2017).

4. Trade and Security; Barack Obama's visit

The competition between the two opposing sides began to intensify as the day of the plebiscite approached. 'Stronger In' confuted constantly all Brexiters' arguments about which country Britain would most closely resemble after Brexit, regarding its trade relationship with European Union. Norway was one of their first suggestions due to the fact that it was a member of a single market without being an EU member. However, the European Economic Area (EEA) agreement involved complying with EU rules without having the ability to set them, accepting the free movement of people and contributing to the EU budget. Another possible option was Switzerland, which was a member of the European Free Trade Area (EFTA) and had signed many different bilateral treaties with the European Union. That case suggested though that Britain should negotiate numerous separate agreements with the EU for various goods and services. Boris Johnson also proposed that Britain could make a deal like the Canadians based on trade with no tariffs (Shipman, 2017). David Cameron responded immediately, tweeting that such a plan would mean seven or more years of uncertainty. Although the Remain campaign advocated that 'Vote Leave' could not find an alternative solution in the case of Brexit, Michael Gove insisted that there was a free trade zone extending from Ireland to Turkey that all European countries have access to, regardless of whether they are members of the EU or the Eurozone. He pointed out that since countries such as Bosnia, Serbia, Ukraine and Albania were part of that free trade area, under no circumstances would Britain be excluded. Stronger In's team seized on Gove's assertion that Britain should emulate Albania – a rather small and impoverished country – and texted the journalists to present it as a blunder (Shipman,

.

³¹ Revealed: Queen Backs Brexit, Sun, 8 March 2016

2017). It could be claimed that there was an attempt by Remain side to use propaganda, in order to undermine the arguments of Eurosceptics, by reproducing only a part of what Gove had stated.

It was essential for Brexit supporters to reconstruct their arguments concerning the single market, especially ahead of a rather hard week for the campaign because of Barack Obama's arrival. A visit from the President of the U.S. had been included in government's agenda already since Cameron called the referendum, and the Queen's ninetieth birthday celebrations in April would constitute the ideal cover for a visit to United Kingdom by America's first family (Shipman, 2017). Remarkably, Downing Street prepared the ground for Obama's narrative just the day before with a letter to The Times from eight former US Treasury Secretaries. They warned that a possible withdrawal from the EU would constitute a 'risky bet', explaining that "If Britain exits, it should not take for granted its global primacy when it is no longer the gateway to Europe" (Shipman, 2017). On the other side, Brexiters had sent a letter to the US ambassador a month earlier, urging Obama not to be engaged in the EU debate because his intervention might undermine the 'validity' of the referendum's result. Additionally, Boris Johnson published an article in the Sun based on 2009 reports, presenting evidence that President's foreign policy pivoted away from Europe. More specifically, he highlighted that one of the first Obama's actions as president was to return to the British embassy a bust of Winston Churchill which stood in the Oval Office (Shipman, 2017). Eurosceptics were apparently aware of the fact that any Obama's statement might influence the voters and thus tried to undermine his credibility.

Cameron and Obama arrived for the press conference after 5 p.m., deliberately timed before *The Six O'Clock News*. The President started his speech declaring that, "*This is a decision for the people of the United Kingdom to make*" and underlined that he was not there to "*fix any votes*". Nonetheless, when he continued on the trade deal, Obama hardened his rhetoric warning the British people that "*they would get no special favors from the United States*" and argued using the sentence: "*The UK is going to be in the back of the queue*". Notably, it was widely observed that the U.S. President used an American phrase – 'In' the back, instead of 'at' the back – followed by the English word 'queue', where he would instinctively have used 'line' instead (Shipman, 2017). Obama's speech could be considered as the best moment for Remain camp as it invalidated all Brexiters' claims that if Britain left the EU, it would be helped by its

closest ally and would be put at the top of the list for a bilateral free-trade deal. It should be noted that 'Stronger In' realized that the media would comment upon the queue/line aspect and tried to downplay any suggestion of collusion. In particular, Craig Oliver stressed to journalists that "This is the leader of the free world. He is not some puppet we can get parroting what we want" (Shipman, 2017). However, the enraged Eurosceptics sought to refute the president's statements, pointing out that Obama would not be president at the time a trade deal was negotiated. In the absence of any effective rebuttal, some of them also used a populist rhetoric. For example, Justice Minister Dominic Raab demonstrated that British people would not be blackmailed by anyone, while Ukip MEP Patrick O'Flynn tweeted: "What has Dave got lined up next? Invite Angela Merkel over to say she will invade us if we vote "Leave"?" (Shipman, 2017).

Brexit campaigners were confident that Obama's intervention would have no impact on the public. Their judgment was confirmed later by polls showing no boost for 'Stronger In'. On the contrary, three of the five polls conducted after Obama's visit put Leave ahead. Stronger In's attempts to promote Britain's place in the world, relying merely on third-party endorsements and well-known foreign figures, proved unsuccessful and was viewed by voters as 'patronizing' (Shipman, 2017). Moreover, Cameron's repeated efforts to demonstrate that the UK was safer in an interconnected system also failed, based on the following events.

The *Sunday Times* published on 8 May a warning from the former heads of MI5 and MI6, Jonathan Evans and Sir John Sawers, that leaving the EU could damage intelligence sharing and might undermine UK's ability to protect itself from terrorists. On the same day, Downing Street sent out to newspapers a briefing with parts of the speech Cameron was expected to make the following day, regarding how the EU had helped maintain the peace in Europe since 1945 (Shipman, 2017). It was accompanied by a video of four veterans of the Second World War speaking emotionally about why they did not want to see the unity they had fought for disintegrated. Both endeavors were an appeal to fear and emotion, however, they brought undesirable results and caused a media frenzy. Cameron's speech was seen as another example of Fear because it implied that a vote for Brexit might lead to war. The *Sun*'s headline the next morning read: "BREXIT could see Europe descend into World War Three, David Cameron will say today", while in the Times' front page was written, "Brexit will raise risk of world war, PM claims" (Shipman, 2017). Consequently, the 'World War Three'

speech – as it became known – damaged Cameron's credibility and also overshadowed the rest of the argument points on security theme.

5. Budget and Economic Arguments

In the run-up to the budget, the government decided to apply some new economic measures, particularly designed to appease the middle-England voters that Cameron and Osborne wished to 'gain' ahead of the referendum. More specifically, it was announced that the tax-free allowance for income tax would be raised to £11,500 and the tax threshold from £40,000 to £45,000 (Shipman, 2017). However, the new fiscal measures were based on cuts to disability benefit, which was given to 600,000 people with long-term health problems. Ian Duncan Smith, the secretary of the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), was irritated that benefit cuts were used as an offset against tax cuts for the middle class. Many Tory MPs complained as well, and urged Osborne to reconsider, but Downing Street demanded that the DWP defend the cuts. As a result, Duncan Smith decided to resign by sending a letter and a resignation statement to the media (Shipman, 2017). He claimed in the letter that the government reneged on Osborne's promise that 'We are all in this together' implying that the Chancellor was more interested in numbers than people. The following day, he appeared to *The Andrew Marr Show* – where initially Sir John Major would appear to make the case for the Remain campaign – and gave an impassionate speech. He explained his decision and articulated his feelings and concerns for the disabled, while he confirmed that his stance was irrelevant with the issue of Europe. Nonetheless, Duncan Smith supported Brexit and the Downing Street considered his resignation as an intended attempt to calumniate them (Shipman, 2017).

Regardless of his initial motivation, Duncan Smith's attack had a serious impact on Osborne. The success of the Remain campaign relied on convincing people to trust their economic arguments, yet the reputation of the main advocate of that policy was damaged.

Nevertheless, during May, the two opposing sides entered into a new debate on trade and economy, in which 'Stronger In' declared victory. Gove stated explicitly in an interview to BBC that United Kingdom should be out of the single market. The fact that Vote Leave's chairman declared that Britain should not be a part of a free trade area of five hundred million people, where the country did more than 40% of its

business, helped Remain campaign to achieve the first goal of its strategy and raise the sense of economic risk around Brexit. Osborne argued to the media that "leaving the largest free trade area in the world (...) would be catastrophic for the people's jobs, their incomes and their livelihoods" (Shipman, 2017).

'Stronger In' was determined to follow the same strategic playbook that led to victory in the Scottish referendum. The first part of their operation plan was to publish reports by the Treasury on the dangers of Brexit, while the second one involved deploying third-party endorsements to support Osborne's case about the risks of leaving the EU. The chancellor was well connected with key players because he had been for six years on the top table of many international finance events. One of the key figures that were deployed was Christine Lagarde, the head of the International Monetary Fund (IMF). The IMF regarded Brexit as a high risk in the latest World Economic Outlook that downgraded the forecasts for economic growth in Britain, while Maurice Obstfeld, the organization's chief economist, declared that "a Brexit would do severe regional and global damage". In line with these statements, David Cameron tweeted "The IMF is right – leaving the EU would pose major risks" (Shipman, 2017). On the other hand, 'Vote Leave' seized on these warnings and ominous forecasts and used them as evidence that the chancellor and the Prime Minister intended to 'talk down Britain', a theme that would sway the voters.

Moreover, Osborne circulated a two hundred page document detailing the long term economic risks in case of Brexit. Admittedly, the word 'risk' had penetrated into the British people's subconscious, since the Remainers used it repeatedly. Osborne's paper included particular statistics showing that Britain would be poorer by 2030, costing each UK household £4,300, if the public decided to leave the EU. However, the statistical data were ambiguous and misleading. The figure of £4,300 per household had resulted from dividing the total loss of a GDP by the number of households without a reference to actual family incomes. Additionally, the amount was based on the number of households in 2015 and not on how many they were expected to be in 2030. Brexiters released a rebuttal of that Treasury's analysis document explaining that the £4,300 figure meant a growth to the sum of households, from twenty-seven million in 2015 to more than thirty-one million in 2030, much of it originated from immigration (Shipman, 2017). According to Eurosceptics, these projections failed to

consider new trade deals with countries outside the EU and also indicated that the government would break its promise to reduce net migration³² (Riley-Smith, 2016). Despite the fact that the Treasury's report received a lot of criticism, it got a big broadcast coverage and helped 'Stronger In' dominate the media for a week. Will Straw admitted that "numbers are the most compelling way" to get coverage and public's interest (Shipman, 2017). Remarkably, Brexiters believed they were losing on the economy and decided to neutralize it as an issue. At the same time, they had great difficulty raising funds for the campaign, since most of the potential donors came under huge pressure from Cameron's allies not to give any money (Shipman, 2017). The Remain side was committed to its strategic plan and deployed one of the most trusted voices on the economy to address the public regarding the risks of Brexit. That key figure was the governor of the Bank of England, Mark Carney, who gave a speech in front of a House of Lords Select Committee warning that Brexit could cause higher inflation and lower growth, which would inevitably lead the City of London to lose its place as one of the greatest financial centers in the world (Shipman, 2017). Nigel Farage realized that Cameron and Osborne were running a referendum campaign based on negativity – exactly the same approach followed in the Scottish referendum and the general election. He argued that there was not given a single good reason why people should vote to stay in the EU. Conversely, Leave campaign advocated that "Britain is going to be stronger, safer, better, more global" outside the EU, which was an uplifting message (Shipman, 2017).

By the beginning of May, 'Stronger In' was convinced that it was the outright winner of the economy debate. They had demonstrated that the Brexiters wanted to withdraw from the single market and had won the support of almost every major international economic institution. They had also released a memorable figure referring to the scale of economic risk and managed to draw media's attention. However, towards the end of the month, Cooper's tracking polls put Remain behind proving that the voters were very skeptical about the campaign's messages. There was evidence that people could not evaluate if their arguments were true because they did not understand economy and made no connection between lower growth and less money for the public services (Shipman, 2017). Cooper concluded that the public could not perceive the damage

_

³² Ben Riley-Smith, "EU referendum: George Osborne says tax hike needed to cover £36bn Brexit black hole", *The Telegraph*, 18 April 2016

Britain's economy would suffer and proposed they explained in simple terms their claims. He also observed that their interventions were heavily focused on risk — Treasury, IMF, Carney, prices — and advised his team to reinforce more the "Stronger, safer and better off" message. As a result, David Cameron appeared in his second television debate on *Question Time* and followed Cooper's first advice explaining comprehensively to the audience that "a hit to the economy would mean less money for the NHS and other public services" (Shipman, 2017).

Nevertheless, a second problem emerged for 'Stronger In', when the polling and the focus groups showed that the electorate was reluctant to believe any report by the Treasury, including the £4,300 per household figure, which was too specific to be believable. Coetzee pointed out that those bold assertions about the future undermined and invalidated the campaign's claims that a Brexit vote would lead to uncertainty. Moreover, the economy-risk arguments were delivered by Cameron and Osborne, who both faced credibility problems – the Prime Minister because of the deal and the World War III speech and the chancellor due to the budget debacle (Shipman, 2017). There was also an attempt by 'Stronger In' to change the course and advocate a more positive message but the media started to lose interest in the economic arguments. Eventually, the campaign decided to concentrate heavily on immigration (Shipman, 2017). Concerning the Brexit side, Vote Leave insisted on their statement that the £350 million that Britain sent per week to Brussels would be better spent within the country. The team's particular logo had been emblazoned on the campaign bus and it was attached to almost every email sent by the campaign. Leave side wanted to make an important point about the money and undermine Osborne's economic-risk offensive strategy. However, the rebate money never left Britain, so it was inaccurate to claim that the country 'sent' £350 million every week to EU. 'Stronger In' accused 'Vote Leave' of promoting that message "even though it was a straightforward lie and it was exposed". On the other hand, Cummings supported that "every time there was a row about the size of the cost to taxpayers of EU membership, it simply reinforced in voters' minds that there was a high cost" (Shipman, 2017). Focus groups interaction proved that the people were influenced by numbers.

In conclusion, Remain campaigners praised themselves for winning the economy debate in an environment of 'post-truth politics', while Brexit side continued on telling voters that their money was wasted in the EU. In any case, Stephenson admitted that if a citizen was asked about the EU, they would argue that it costed hundred million

pounds per week and – although some of it returned to UK – most of it ended up in Greece (Shipman, 2017).

6. Ad Hominem Attacks and Immigration Issue

In April, the so-called Panama Papers were released, which are million leaked documents with detailed financial information for offshore entities. The government seemed to be in a fortunate position, since none of the cabinet's serving members were included. However, the BBC's *Panorama* revealed that Blairmore Holdings, a company owned by Cameron's late father, used Mossack Fonseca, the Central American corporation responsible for these documents. After incessant public pressure to disclose details about his finances, the Prime Minister published extensive information about his tax return. Nonetheless, his document also unveiled the amount of £300,000 inheritance Cameron received from his father and £200,000 cash he accepted from his mother as a supplement to that inheritance. The press pointed out that the sum might not be liable to inheritance tax and assumed that the money could have come from Blairmore. The way media handled that issue aroused voters' suspicion about the Prime Minister's financial activities. 'Vote Leave' seized on that incident and posted a video on Facebook, saying in effect, "David Cameron has been fiddling his taxes for years, how can you trust him in Europe?" (Shipman, 2017). Cameron complained to 'Leave' campaigners about the viral video and the implications he was lying about his tax arrangements, and asked them to avoid ad hominem attacks. Although Boris Johnson agreed, he gave an interview for the Sunday Times and the Sun on Sunday the following day, personally attacking David Cameron, George Osborne and Theresa May for failing to keep their pledge and secure a deal with Brussels that only EU migrants with a job could enter Britain. Downing Street was hugely irritated by Johnson's line and urged the Prime Minister to wage a counterattack, especially on Leave's official spokesmen, Gove and Johnson, who were gaining credibility and authority. However, Cameron was reluctant from the beginning to be involved in a quarrel with another Conservative (Shipman 2017). In mid-May, the 'Vote Leave' campaign decided to pursue a more aggressive policy. Cummings stated repeatedly to his team that "If you want to win this campaign, you have to hit David Cameron on the combined subjects of money, the NHS and immigration. What we are going to talk about in the campaign is 350 million quid,

immigration, Turkey" (Shipman, 2017). It should be noted that those key messages were already included in parts of the campaign that Cummings was responsible for, such as the viral videos, the leaflets and social media advertising. Additionally, the Sunday Telegraph published on 15 May an interview, in which Boris Johnson compared the European Commission's endeavor to form a superstate with Hitler's Third Reich. He pointed out that the European Union constitutes an attempt to unite Europe under a single government by simply using different methods from Hitler and other people who also had the same aim. His statements caused uproar and the pro-European politician, Michael Heseltine, appeared on television to denounce Boris for making those "preposterous, obscene" claims. George Osborne was convinced that Boris Johnson was the most effective and persuasive voice within Vote Leave, hence they should undermine his credibility. On the other hand, Cummings vowed to provide stories to emphasize the Tory civil war. Moreover, he persuaded Gove and Johnson to continue the ad hominem attacks, especially after a story published by the Sun, revealing that the 'Remain' campaign was spreading false rumors about a sex scandal, in which supposedly Boris Johnson's wife was also involved. That was used as evidence to the Conservative politician that the opponents would do anything to destroy him personally (Shipman, 2017).

A significant moment for 'Vote Leave' was the day when the latest immigration figures were disclosed. More specifically, towards the end of May, it was published that net migration had reached 330,000 during 2015, nearly half of it coming from other EU countries. Remarkably, that number exceeded the upper limit of the government's 'tens of thousands' plan. In addition, the government had concealed some HRMC immigration statistics, which, however, appeared in the front page of many national newspapers. Subsequently, Johnson did plenty of television and radio interviews, stating that he supported immigration but he argued about control and democracy. Along with Gove, he also wrote a letter which was published by the Sunday Times under the headline 'Boris and Gove lash Cameron on immigration'. The main section of the letter read: "Voters were promised repeatedly at elections that net immigration could be cut to the tens of thousands. This promise is plainly not achievable as long as the UK is a member of the EU and the failure to keep it is corrosive of public trust in politics" (Shipman, 2017). Although they did not want to insult the Prime Minister, the press regarded their intervention as a 'direct challenge to David Cameron's authority' (Shipman, 2017). Furthermore, the Conservative MP Priti

Patel wrote to the *Sunday Telegraph*, accusing Cameron and Osborne of being too wealthy to understand people's concern about immigration. Eventually, those blue-on-blue attacks allowed the media to relinquish Stronger In's economic warnings and develop a completely new narrative.

In June, Brexiters decided to issue their first policy regarding the control of immigration. Gove and Johnson demonstrated that a post-Brexit government would adopt a points-based system for immigration, following the example of Australia. They announced that migrants would be prohibited from entering Britain unless they had the right qualifications and a good command of English language. They also pointed out that the scale of immigration had put 'strain' on public services, and if Britain remained in the EU, the waiting lists would lengthen and the class sizes would rise (Shipman, 2017). 'Stronger In' tried to issue a respond based on facts and argued that the Australian points-based system actually allowed the entry to a higher number of people compared to its population than the current British system for non-EU migrants. Implanting the idea of an 'alternative' government in journalists' minds was Paul Stephenson's sole aim when he suggested the policy proposals. In mid-June, Vote Leave released a 'roadmap' of six new laws that they would introduce in the case of Brexit. The scheme included legislation regarding the withdrawal from the 1972 European Communities Act, a special Finance Bill to deduct VAT from household fuel, a Free Trade Bill, an NHS Funding Bill to channel the extra money to the NHS, an Asylum and Immigration Control Bill and, last but not least, an Emergency Provisions Bill to cease the supremacy of the European Court of Justice and remove from the UK all those EU citizens 'whose presence is not conducive to the public good'. The glut of the announcements immediately attracted media's attention (Shipman, 2017).

At the time Gove and Johnson began to act like a government in waiting, the formal purdah period had started. Thus, the real government could not provide further support to Remain campaign. From that point onwards, the civil service was forbidden from doing anything that could affect the result of the referendum and both campaigns could only spend £7 million each to run their operation (Shipman, 2017). That also meant that Stronger In could no longer have access to government reports or get advice from officials. Conversely, the start of purdah constituted a perfect moment and a key turning point for Leave campaigners. Matthew Elliott admitted that they gained a competitive advantage during the purdah period, since they were able to determine the

broadcast agenda and the BBC offered more balanced coverage to both sides. It was acknowledged that 'Vote Leave' chose the most appropriate time to give weight to the immigration issue. The point that purdah came into effect, immigration was in the center of the public debate and plenty of postal votes were sent to British households. In particular, 'Leave' campaign delivered a hundred million leaflets and sent half a billion advertisements digitally (Shipman, 2017). Admittedly, Downing Street and 'Stronger In' considered the economy, public services, the cost of the EU and immigration as separate issues, while 'Vote Leave' managed to fuse them into one campaigning issue.

Before the publication of the 'corrosive of public trust' letter, Brexiters had printed a new poster which illustrated footsteps walking through an open door shaped like passport, with the slogan 'Turkey (Population Seventy-Six Million) is joining the EU' (Shipman, 2017). Additionally, Penny Mordaunt underlined that the entry of Turkey into Europe might pose threats to Britain's security due to the fact that Turkey is a country with a high crime rate and "the government will not be able to exclude Turkish criminals from entering the UK" because of the free movement laws of European Union. She also claimed – inaccurately – that Britain could not veto Turkish accession. Cameron called Mordaunt's assertions "absolutely wrong" and his team accused 'Vote Leave' of lying particularly on the grounds that Turkey would join the EU. Subsequently, the Prime Minister proceeded in a provocative statement, risking a diplomatic incident. He affirmed that Turkey is not expected to join the EU any time soon, since they applied in 1987 and "at the current rate of progress they will probably get round to joining in about the year 3000" (Shipman, 2017).

Despite the criticism, 'Leave' campaign continued to promote the Turkish issue because it had a clear influence on voters. Ryan Coetzee reproved Brexiters for using mendacious propaganda in an environment where feelings of distrust and xenophobia were fueling populist movements across the West. Correspondingly, 'Stronger In' members believed they should also provide a solid answer to voters regarding immigration. Coetzee suggested that there should be a package of measures proposals to alleviate the impact of immigration especially on the impoverished areas and their overstretched public services. However, 'Stronger In' did not want to place too much emphasis on the matter since, according to Andrew Cooper's polling, the economic risk would overshadow the immigration issue. The pollster had conducted 'regression analysis', examining the explanatory power of various words, phrases and policies. He

concluded that arguments on immigration had little influence on voters and people who were determined to vote 'Leave' because of immigration, they would not reverse their decision.

7. Breaking Points; Jo Cox's Murder

On 16 June, a week before the referendum day, the Labour MP, Jo Cox, was attacked and murdered in the middle of the street. Based on the testimony of witnesses, the media reported that the perpetrator had yelled "Britain First" when he attacked her. Two days later, the 52-year-old Thomas Mair, who had links to an American-Neonazi group, the National Alliance, was arrested and charged with the murder. When he appeared at the Court and asked to confirm his name, he replied "my name is death to traitors, freedom for Britain" (Shipman, 2017).

The House of Commons was recalled for a day to pay tributes to Jo Cox, while Cameron cancelled the biggest Remain rally in Gibraltar, where he was due to appear in front of 15,000 people. Brexiters also cancelled a rally in Birmingham and suspended the operation of 'Vote Leave'. Admittedly, there was wide concern among those people involved in the campaigns about whether the Labour Mp was murdered due to her views for Brexit and whether her death would affect the referendum's outcome.

Subsequently, 'Stronger In' sent an email to invite volunteers to take part in a conference call. The email also appeared in one of Vote Leave's fake accounts and two senior staff managed to join in the conference, where Will Straw argued that "people have been pulled up short by Jo Cox's death. It is now time to make a very positive case for why we want to be in the European Union", and "call out the other side for what they have done to stir division and resentment he the UK" (Shipman, 2017). A transcript of his speech was leaked to Day Telegraph and it was claimed that 'Stronger In' was exploiting the MP's death. Moreover, Steve Baker advised his colleagues in Leave campaign not to respond to Remainers' attacks or make public statements regarding the murder of Jo Cox (Shipman, 2017).

On the other hand, Nigel Farage was subjected to severe criticism because of a provocative poster about immigration, which he had unveiled a few hours before Cox was killed. It depicted a long stream of migrants standing at the Croatian-Slovenian borders under the slogan 'Breaking Point'. When the poster was first released on the

advertising vans, it had attracted minor interest. After the incident though, it became the centre of public debate about whether the Ukip leader was inciting racial hatred, and whether that feeling had fuelled both Cox's murder and Leave's lead in the opinion polls. Farage's initial plan was to launch six separate posters during the last week, and that was the first one. Both Michael Gove and Boris Johnson condemned the action and tried to deter him from publishing the rest of those posters. Farage handled the issue based on the instructions of Bank's campaign strategist, Andy Wigmore, who noted that the Ukip leader "did not apologize for the poster, he apologized for the timing of the poster – and that set the whole news cycle going again" (Shipman, 2017). Admittedly, that was another tactic to keep the immigration issue in the headlines. The immediate perception in both the media and the campaigns was that Jo Cox's killing would benefit the Remain side. Leave campaigners believed that the 'Breaking Point' poster 'had offended polite opinion' and they would be affected by association (Shipman, 2017). However, Henry De Zoete had conducted focus groups discussion and reported back to 'Vote Leave' that people did not accuse Brexit campaign for her death. In the final days, polls indicated a small lead for Remain which might have given a false comfort to 'Stronger In', since many voters were reluctant to admit to pollsters they were backing Brexit after Cox's murder (Shipman, 2017).

8. Debating Points

It was commonly admitted that both campaigns had deployed the most structured minds and the best political communicators in Britain to help them build an effective strategy during the debate-battles for Brexit.

Leave campaigners' success was based to a great extent on Brett O'Donnell's assistance and guidance. O'Donnell – also known as the 'candidate whisperer' – had cooperated with George W. Bush in 2004 elections and prepared Mitt Romney for his 2012 debate with Obama. He explained to Vote Leave's team that debates are 'messaging opportunities' because people are given the chance to influence the public by using the campaign's most effective lines. In the first meeting of the group, O'Donnell created a messaging document and provided instruction to his colleagues on how to respond to Remain's attacks, while in the second preparation session, he arranged a practice debate with some of stuff playing the Remain side (Shipman, 2017). Their own attacks and offensive arguments were scripted.

On the other hand, Craig Oliver advised Cameron not to engage in a face-to-face debate, especially with Johnson and Gove. Instead, he arranged for the Prime Minister three solo appearances, one of which included to share the same platform with Nigel Farage and face the audience's questions. Notably, in summer 2015, the Ukip leader had negotiated with ITV executives to appear in one of the program's debates. Although 'Vote Leave' won the designation, ITV did not change its decision. Nevertheless, the fact that Cameron would have to confront with Nigel Farage did not concern Craig Oliver, who regarded the Ukip leader to be an easy opponent and a referendum vote-loser (Shipman, 2017).

Cameron's first media appearance was on 3 June, when he was interviewed by the political editor of *Sky News*, Faisal Islam. The interview would be followed by an audience question-and-answer session. To Cameron's evident surprise, Islam appeared to be sarcastic, asking the Prime Minister "*What comes first? World War III, or the global Brexit recession?*". Cameron, who was reduced to calling his interviewer "*glib*", found himself in an even more uncomfortable position in Q&A, when a literature student accused him of using 'scaremongering' as a way to win votes. According to journalists and campaign's spin doctors, it was a bruising encounter, which also proved the depth of anti-EU feeling in Britain.

The following evening, Michael Gove was due to appear in the same program and Brett O'Donnell helped him to prepare. He put Gove under pressure by testing him repeatedly with any possible question and interrupting him during the practice interview. Brett O'Donnell explained to the politician that every question was a chance to convey his messages. He also interviewed him about his personal life and urged him to seize on the fact that Euroscepticm grounded in his own past. In his Sky appearance, Gove proved to be sharp-witted by making astute turns of phrase and relentlessly advocating 'take back control'. He also followed O'Donnell's advice and made a reference to personal experiences stating to the audience that his father "had a fishing business in Aberdeen destroyed by the European Union and the Common Fisheries Policy". When Faisal Islam questioned the existence of the free-trade area, which Gove hoped Britain would join after Brexit, stressing the fact that there was no relevant website, Gove won applause by replying, "Most of the people in this audience don't have their own personal website. I don't doubt that they exist" (Shipman, 2017). Subsequently, Gove was asked why more businesses and financial institutions were not backing Leave. He avoided to provide a direct response and tried to change the subject

of the question by answering, "I think the people of this country have had enough of experts...I'm afraid it's time to say, 'You're fired!'", which proved to be his most memorable line. Although he deliberately committed a logical fallacy, his answer had a positive impact on the voters. Gove's performance – unlike Cameron's – exceeded expectations and constituted a key moment in the campaign.

On 7 June, the performances of Cameron and Farage would be judged against each other but the two party leaders would not appear on stage together. The Ukip leader had recruited a team of advisers to help him craft his arguments. However, Farage faced a difficult situation in front of the ITV audience, especially when a young black woman blamed him on his anti-immigration rhetoric, which might increase the fear and discrimination of Black British people. She asked him whether he was encouraging racism and Farage appeared to be nervous defending himself as a supporter of the Commonwealth. It was a heated encounter but the Ukip leader admitted later that they would not gain more votes if he suddenly deployed a different rhetoric and gave the wrong impression of being a social democrat (Shipman, 2017). Cameron benefited from the fact that he appeared second in the ITV program and handled the public's questions more comfortably than the last time, even though he faced severe criticism particularly on his 'tens and thousands' immigration pledge (Shipman, 2017). Two days later, the two opposing campaigns were prepared for the first three-way debate. After a long period of avoiding blue-on-blue attacks, 'Stronger In' decided to follow a different approach and place an all-female line-up to challenge Boris Johnson and deploy ad hominem attacks against him. ITV had separately approached the Scottish minister, Nicola Sturgeon, whose debate performances during the previous general elections had attracted media's attention. Labour Party appointed the shadow leader of the Commons, Angela Eagle. The team was completed with the appointment of a Conservative MP, the energy secretary Amber Rudd. According to Oliver, Johnson would face difficulty in tackling the assaults from three female politicians during a ninety-minute debate. However, Johnson would be also surrounded by two women, the Labour MP Gisela Stuart and Andrea Leadsom, who was Rudd's deputy at the Department of Energy and Climate Change (Shipman, 2017).

In preparation sessions, 'Stronger In' practiced a role-playing debate and tested attack lines in order to interact and properly coordinate their moves. An additional advantage for 'Remain' campaigners was the assistance that Alastair Campbell, Tony Blair's old spin doctor, rendered to the team. He advised them on how to deal with the hostile

press and how to communicate their strategy through the debate. Moreover, he pointed out that they should always think about the rebuttal on every opponent's response. On the other hand, O'Donnell urged Jonson, Leadsom and Stuart to give weight on the important arguments and address the audience while answering each question. He advised them not to react to any provocation and repeat constantly the campaign's line 'Take back control'. Remarkably, he also encouraged all three candidates to humanize each issue and present themselves to the public as people and not merely as politicians. Leadsom was advised to refer to her experience as a businesswoman and a mother, while the German-born Stuart decided to incorporate in her answers the fact that she was a mother, a grandmother, as well as an immigrant. They did practice debates for hours, with the two female politicians intervening to halt any attacks on Johnson (Shipman, 2017).

The ITV show was the biggest live debate on the EU referendum. It was characterized by Vote Leave's teamwork and message discipline but Remainers' performance got the headlines. Boris Johnson came under sustained attack by the three Remain women during the televised debate. Amber Rudd accused the lead figure in Brexit campaign of being motivated by personal leadership ambitions, saying that "I fear that the only number Boris is interested in is Number 10". In her closing remarks, she made a point of disparaging her Tory colleague. "As for Boris, he is the life and soul of the party but he's not the man you want driving you home at the end of the evening", Rudd claimed. On the other hand, Johnson accused Stronger In of scaremongering and negativity. He also defended and justified the £350 million figure, which Sturgeon called a 'whopper', while Eagle urged him to remove it from Vote Leave's bus. Throughout the debate, Johnson tried to keep his composure and confirmed to the voters that Britain would "prosper as never before" out of the European Union. Furthermore, Stuart used her "I am an immigrant" line during the conversation on immigration, which worked perfectly according to Stephenson (Shipman, 2017).

The Remain side was satisfied with the outcome of the ITV debate. Will Straw recalled, "If we weren't careful, this would be Boris Johnson moment. We preferred to be huge ranking over an attack on his character, rather than whatever he was trying to get across" (Shipman, 2017). Leave side felt relieved that Johnson did not respond to their ad hominem attacks, believing that Boris was the most popular politician in Britain and the Remain team's offensive attitude would have the exact opposite effect. Indeed, Ryan Coetzee did focus-group sessions and concluded that the verbal assaults

were counterproductive. More specifically, the undecided/persuadable voters, who constituted the Remain campaign's target, did not like the personal attacks. As a result, Stronger In decided to adopt a different policy in the BBC debate at Wembley (Shipman, 2017).

Cameron's last broadcast appearance was on the BBC's Question Time EU Special. The most significant moment was when a member from the audience referred to Prime Minister's renegotiation and claimed that the deal was not legally binding. The questioner compared Cameron to a "21st-century Neville Chamberlain" and asked the Prime Minister how he could make pledges based on that deal, when in fact "a dictatorship in Europe can overrule it" (Shipman, 2017). Cameron responded with passion, citing Winston Churchill: "At my office I sit two yards away from the cabinet room where Winston Churchill decided in May 1940 to fight on against Hitler. The best and greatest decision perhaps anyone has made in our country. He didn't want to be alone. He wanted to be fighting with the French, the Poles and the others. But (...) he didn't quit on democracy, he didn't quit on freedom". Cameron moved around the stage, gesticulating wildly during his speech and pointing with his fingers. He continued stating, "We want to fight for those things today. You can't win if you're not in the room. You can't win a football match if you're not on the pitch" (Shipman, 2017). It could be noted that Prime Minister deliberately used first-person plural – "We want" – to establish a personal connection with the listeners and some virtue words – such as democracy and freedom – in order to influence the public. It could be also indicated that he committed the 'red-herring' fallacy by diverting the question and redirecting the argument to another topic in order to distract the audience. Nevertheless, he succeeded in following the instructions of the debate coach, Bill Knapp, who had advised him to show emotion during his performance. Subsequently, Cameron gave an interview to the Sunday Times, arguing that a Brexit vote would be a "one-way ticket" with "no going back". That argument had been regarded as a powerful one with women, according to Ryan Coetzee's focus groups. However, there was a common perception within 'Stronger In' that Cameron had lost the force of his impact due to the fact that he was viewed as a Tory politician rather than a prime minister. As a result, a public speech was organized two days before the poling day, where Cameron would present himself as the nation's leader addressing to the country. According to Tim Shipman's view, the 'Remain' side "was stretching the purdah rules to breaking point" (Shipman, 2017). The Prime Minister managed to

make his economic message appeal to families: "As you take this decision whether to remain or leave, do think about the hopes and dreams of your children and grandchildren – they know their chances to work, to travel, to build the sort of open society they want to live in, rest on this outcome" (Shipman, 2017).

The following event was going to be the biggest debate in British history. The representatives of the campaigns were due to appear at Wembley Arena and speak in front of 6,500 people. The BBC producers had initially envisaged two politicians and another public figure on each team. 'Stronger In' chose the leader of the Scottish Party, Ruth Davidson, who was a committed pro-European. It was believed that she was the only Tory politician with an influence to Labour supporters, mainly because of her accent, which was familiar to Labour voters living in the north of England. 'Labour In' campaign preferred to keep Eagle but Lucy Thomas proposed Sadiq Khan (Shipman, 2017). The third team member would be Frances O'Grady, Britain's top trade unionist and the general secretary of the TUC. Stronger In's team resolved to be better-organized in that debate and, during their preparation, they recorded an opening and closing statement, which Coetzee played to a focus group in order to get their approval.

'Vote Leave' would deploy once again the main advocate of the campaign, Boris Johnson, and Gisela Stuart, the German immigrant. Regarding the third member, Brexiters had originally chosen the businessman and former minister Digby Jones but they eventually deployed Andrea Leadsom due to her previous good performance. According to Henry de Zoete, the electorate did not trust businessmen. On the other hand, the women liked the fact that Leadsom referred to her experience as a mother. Brett O' Donnell advised his team to frame the debate as they were promoting hope, in contrast to the opponents, who were promoting fear and loathing (Shipman, 2017). The three main sections of the debate were the economy, immigration issue and security. The Remainers' basic plan was to give weight and win on the economic arguments, and to focus on security to overcome their disadvantage on immigration. Conversely, they did not in fact manage to get public's attention during the economic section, whereas they performed better than expected on immigration. Surprisingly, neither side succeeded in winning on the security issue.

In the opening section of the BBC debate, Ruth Davidson accused Boris Johnson and 'Vote Leave' of "lying" about the cost of EU and Turkey. They also clashed on jobs, where the Scottish MP quoted a Johnson's previous claim that some jobs might be lost

from Brexit. Johnson cleverly retorted that the Remain side was deploying once again Project Fear in an effort to conceal the fact that they could not make a positive case about staying in Europe. However, as the debate reached the immigration topic, Mr Khan accused the Leave side - which had campaigned hard on the issue – of utilizing "Project Hate" instead of "Project Fear". Moreover, Frances O'Grady demonstrated that 'Vote Leave' had never pledged to limit net migration if people voted for Brexit. Subsequently, Davidson made her final statement for 'Stronger In': "You have to be 100 per cent sure, because there's no going back on Friday morning, and your decision could cost someone else their job" (Shipman, 2017). Nonetheless, it was Boris Johnson's line which received loud acclamation. He argued: "I believe this Thursday can be our country's Independence Day". His idea was based on the fact that there were posters everywhere advertising the movie Independence Day, which had its premiere on 23 June.

It could be indicated that although 'Stronger In' managed to approach the debate in a more positive and affective way, Johnson was the person that deeply affected public's emotions. However, the outcome of the referendum the following day would determine which campaigns' strategy had been more successful.

9. 'All Out War'

Tim Shipman considers the operation of a campaign a "sophisticated business". According to his book 'All Out War', there are four identified ways to run an election campaign successfully and gain advantage over competitors. First of all, the author refers to the 'air war', which constitutes the campaigners' attempt to convey their main messages through the mass media. This policy is heavily based on making emotional or intellectual appeals to persuade the undecided voters and sway supporters of the opposing side. The second way is called the 'ground war' and concerns the role of activists in delivering the campaign literature. They also contribute to the campaign's efforts to increase the voter turnout in elections. Moreover, Tim Shipman analyses two additional hi-tech battlefields, which have emerged the last twenty years. The first one constitutes a different version of the air and ground war and is known as 'cyber war' because it is conducted on social media. Facebook and Twitter are the most influential platforms, where campaigns can advertise their messages in a more direct and effective way and promote their views to people who do not get informed from the traditional

media. However, behind all these practices lies the 'data war', which includes the usage of sophisticated data-mining methods to analyze the electoral register and create databases with information from voters' social media accounts. These data help the campaign to identify which demographic or interest group of the country is susceptible to its messages in order to send emails and activists towards specific households. A campaign could achieve its objectives supposing that all the above operations are properly combined and reinforce each other.

Most of the above chapters have described the 'air war' of the two opposing sides in Britain's EU referendum. However, both Brexit and Remain campaigns built strategies based on all those techniques to target voters. The most significant example of Vote Leave's digital operation constituted the creation of a £50 million football prediction competition. The campaign was supposedly offering the staggering price, which claimed that amounted to the sum UK sent to Europe every day, to anyone who managed to predict correctly the winner of all games at Euro 2016.

The real reason behind the competition was Brexiters' attempt to gather personal information about the participants, who were asked to fill in their name, email and address. These data proved extremely useful for the campaign, since half a million people were sent text messages reminding them to vote on polling day (Shipman, 2017). The attraction of football was also used by 'Stronger In', as an effort to entice young men who would not otherwise have been interested in the referendum. Remainers devised a product that allowed football fans to estimate which English team might lose more foreign players if immigration controls were imposed (Shipman, 2017).

Admittedly, the web strategy helped both sides to make judgments about where to deploy their ground forces. Based on their databases and their social media operations, the campaigns selected key areas to send leaflet commuters. Special pamphlets were delivered by 'Stronger In' to pensioners and young voters, while 'Vote Leave' recruited volunteers to put adverts outside schools and supermarkets in specific neighborhoods.

On reflection, both campaigns used a range of communication methods and employed a number of rhetoric strategies to reach the desired outcome. Tim Shipman argues that politics is first and foremost "a results business". "There are no hung Parliaments in referendums, only victory or total, irreversible defeat" (Shipman, 2017). The result of

the EU referendum would ultimately determine which campaign's policy was more effective.

C. The Result: BREXIT; Why?

Britain's EU referendum, also known as Brexit referendum, resulted in 51.9 per cent of voters being in favor of leaving the EU. The outcome provoked considerable debate regarding the factors that contributed to the 'Leave' campaign's victory, leading to various explanations and theories. The issues stressed by the Remain and Leave campaigns received significant attention in studies, since they played a vital role in forming the public attitudes towards the EU. The cost-benefit *calculations* and the related risk assessments, the *cues* from political and business elites and the feelings of attachment to a wider *community* are considered to be the main parts of Britain's campaign that eventually shaped people's opinion and the result of the 2016 referendum (Clarke et al., 2017).

Most of the analyses that have been conducted focus on identifying the economic, social and demographic factors behind the Brexit vote. More specifically, it has been indicated that people's decision to vote 'Leave' or 'Remain' can be attributed to various individual characteristics, such as, education, age, income and employment status (Clarke et al., 2017, Curtice, 2017, Soudis et al., 2018). In broad terms, people with higher levels of education, higher incomes, working in higher skilled and professional jobs, and belonging in younger age groups opted for 'Remain', and vice versa for 'Leave' (Soudis et al., 2018). Undeniably, it is not as simple as that, since many intellectuals and young voters across England and Wales also supported Brexit. The outcome of the UK's referendum should be approached at more than one level in order to be adequately explained. Based on an extensive literature review, this paper will mainly attempt to interpret how people voted to 'Leave', examining the circumstances under which voters' attitudes were formed and the various tactics and strategic plans of the campaigns that might have affected people's final choice.

First of all, it could be argued that the referendum's result was the culmination of three decades of scepticism towards the EU (Shipman, 2017). All those years of sustained Euroscepticism among politicians, citizens and in large parts of Britain's media could not be reversed in just eight months of campaigning. The Conservative MP and then

Minister of State at the Department of Health, Alistair Burt, admitted that the EU battle "was lost a long time ago with the relentless drip, drip of anti-European propaganda" (Shipman 2017). It should be also taken into account that British people have always had a weaker sense of European identity compared with their counterparts in other EU member states (Dennison et al., 2018). This suggests that the vote to 'Leave' could be regarded as a statement about Britain's national identity, and everything that involves – in that case about the economic and political future of the country. Moreover, the role of the media during the campaign should be also taken into consideration. For almost thirty years, the British national press has been inciting Eurosceptic sentiment. Stronger In's media operation "was unable to compete with the populist message orchestrated by tabloid newspapers such as the Sun" (Wring, 2016). Regarding the circumstances in which the referendum was held, there is a second explanation of the outcome, provided mainly by Remainers. It has been claimed that the EU referendum occurred in a period when "powerful forces that assisted the Leavers were sweeping the Western World" (Shipman, 2017). Brexit was considered to be another sign of the phenomenon that fuelled support for Marine Le Pen in France and Donald Trump in the US. This included a revolt against the effects of globalization and a rejection of political elites, expressed chiefly by people from working-class communities, who protested about the low wages and the pressure on local services

Based on the above, many scholars tried to assess the relative importance of the issues stressed by the two opposing sides, as well as the various tactics used by both campaigns to convey their key messages. British people were bombarded with warnings from the 'Remain' side about the economic consequences the country would face if they voted to leave the EU. They deployed all kind of experts – the IMF, the OECD, the CBI, the IFS – to persuade the public that the economic growth would be affected, unemployment would rise and the pound would rapidly fall after Brexit. However, the 'Leave' campaign was quick to denounce those warnings as "Project Fear" and propaganda based on negativity, dismissing all those experts as wealthy, unaccountable elites having their own vested interests. The result indicates that voters were reluctant to believe and accept the arguments of recognizably establishment

figures, while Leave side was accused of fomenting that feeling of distrust. On the

emerging from rising immigration. It also included the growth of what analysts call a

'post-truth' culture, "in which voters are persuaded by the volume rather than the

accuracy of an announcement" (Shipman, 2017).

contrary, 'Vote Leave' preferred to concentrate on the question of fiscal transfers instead of the economics of leaving the EU (Curtice, 2017). Their main argument was that the EU membership costed the UK £350 million a week, an amount of money that could be rather spent on the country's health service, "a form of public spending that is always relatively popular" (Curtice, 2017). The assertion was heavily disputed not only by Remain campaigners but also by the Treasury Select Committee and the UK Statistics Authority, which described it as potentially misleading. However, it was a powerful political slogan, which attracted voters' attention by being placed across the side of the campaign's bus. Admittedly, the publicity that was generated by the criticism gave also publicity to the fact that the UK was still a net contributor to the budget of EU (Curtice, 2017). In that sense, it provided an effective illustration of how Britain could be better off outside the EU.

The principal theme of immigration also favored the Leave side, since the result suggested that people were concerned about the levels of migration into Britain over the past ten years and their impact on society. Crucially, Leave campaigners demonstrated that the EU was responsible for about half of migration, while they pointed out that due to the freedom of movement provisions, Britain could not sufficiently control the numbers of migrants coming from the EU to live and work in the UK. There were also suggestions that migration from the EU potentially exposed Britain to a terrorist threat (Curtice, 2017). Moreover, the Leave campaign attempted to combine the migration issue with the subject of national sovereignty, reminding voters that Britain had to implement EU directives, which the government might have opposed in the Council of Ministers, and accept any judgments made by the European Court of Justice. The fact that decisions should be taken in London rather than Brussels constituted a central argument of Leave side. On the other hand, the Remainers realized that the migration crisis was "their Achilles' heel" and, for the most part of the debate, they tried to divert the campaign onto a territory more comfortable for them, most notably the economy, rather than try to oppose the Leave side's arguments directly (Curtice, 2017, Oliver, 2016). However, some attempt was made to suggest that Brexit might threaten collaboration with the police services and the intelligence of other EU countries, and consequently increase the risk of terrorism (Curtice, 2017). It could be indicated that the economic case of the Remain campaign failed in the face of the strong anti-immigration sentiment and the effective 'take back control' slogan of Leave side. Nevertheless, the final result should be attributed to the communication

failures of the Remain side (Hughes, 2016). David Cameron and his allies made a series of decisions that may have contributed to their defeat. The Prime Minister put himself in the front and centre of the Remain campaign and framed people's choice as a question of trust. Having set high expectations about his ability to secure a fundamental reform in Britain's relationship with the EU, it was inevitable that his deal - which included only a few concessions - would be dismissed as inadequate by Eurosceptics in his party. Apart from this, it is worth noting that Cameron used to be one of the most eurosceptic Conservative Prime Ministers in the UK's history, until he tried to change his position in February after his negotiations with Brussels (Shipman, 2017). Having said nothing positive about Europe during his premiership, it was impossible to convince the public of the advantages of the EU membership. Furthermore, George Osborne's analysis showed that he and Cameron miscalculated "the scale of division within the Conservative Party that left nearly half their MPs against them" and tried to plan their strategy without knowing whether two of the party's key figures, Boris Johnson and Michael Gove, would be on their side (Shipman, 2017). It was commonly admitted that Johnson and Gove's decision to support Brexit had a material effect on the outcome. Regarding especially Johnson's choice to back the Leave campaign, Tim Shipman argues that he was the embodiment of the nation at that moment. "Every voter weighted self-interest and the national interest: By plumping for Brexit after personal agonies, Johnson mirrored the decision of the country" (Shipman, 2017). Undeniably, both cabinet ministers gave to the Leave campaign intellectual heft and publicity, which otherwise it might have lacked. At that point, it should be also mentioned that Cameron was particularly concerned about keeping his party united after the EU referendum and hence he avoided any blue-onblue confrontations during the campaign. That attitude deprived him of an opportunity to defend himself and his team against the personal attacks repeatedly launched by the opposing side. Eventually, Cameron's failure to persuade his own Tory voters of the Remain case stemmed "not just from weak communication and weak strategy but from a lack of real commitment to the strategic case for the EU and for the UK to play a strategic role in Europe" (Hughes, 2016).

Overall, it has been argued that 'Vote Leave' ran a superior campaign to their pro-EU rivals, on the grounds that it was more disciplined, better organized, with tighter messaging. On doorsteps, posters and during the TV debates, Brexit side always followed a careful plan, devised by the campaigning masterminds, Dominic Cummings

and Matthew Elliott, based on focus groups and internal research. On the other hand, an important deficiency of the 'Stronger In' operation was its failure to pursue an offensive strategy, mainly because of Andrew Cooper's polling. Although studies of the polls after the referendum suggested that 'Leave' was ahead throughout the campaign, Cooper's polling put 'Remain' ahead, which undoubtedly strengthened his team's belief that they would win (Shipman, 2017). The fact that they did not deviate from their original planning up to the final day was due to a degree of complacency in 'Stronger In' that their policy was actually working.

Last but not least, the contribution of Steve Baker and his parliamentary guerillas was also significant to the Vote Leave cause, depriving the government of key advantages (Shipman, 2017). 'Conservatives for Britain' succeeded in changing the referendum question from yes/no to remain/leave, which may have been worth several percentage points to the Leave side, while they also saved the four-week purdah period, allowing 'Vote Leave' to secure a better broadcast coverage particularly at the moment "when their attacks became most potent" (Shipman, 2017). Similarly, the neutrality of the Conservative Party prevented Cameron and his allies from canvassing data which otherwise they could have utilized to their advantage. Taken together, all these factors may have been decisive to swing the balance in favor of Leave.

CONCLUSION

In theory, the Remain campaign had a number of advantages. First of all, staying in the European Union constituted the status quo option, while Brexit represented a choice of radical change (Mullen, 2016). Additionally, much of the establishment, not only in the UK but internationally, supported Remain. Finally and most importantly, until the official 'purdah' period, Prime Minister David Cameron had the ability to exploit the political communication machinery of the country in favor of Remain. Although the Conservative Party was officially neutral, the Remain side could utilize some of the party's resources (e.g. voter data and activists), along with the official support of the Labour Party and its own political communication devices (Mullen, 2016). On the contrary, the Leave campaign, which lacked the support of any establishment or political party and was prohibited from accessing the state's resources, had to build its operation largely from the beginning. Eventually, in terms of political communication,

both the Remain and Leave campaigns deployed effective strategies and similar digital approaches. The critical difference, though, lies in the fact that the Leave campaign was more successful at targeting than the opposing side (Mullen, 2016). With respect to the rhetoric of the EU referendum campaign, the Leave side emerged victorious by making long-standing assumptions about how Britain was being "mistreated" by the EU (Crines, 2016). In line with this, their arguments were mainly based on immigration, expense of membership and loss of sovereignty. Conversely, the Remain side tried to highlight the fiscal stability, the access to the single market, and also the potential risk to the UK's economy in case of Brexit. Both campaigns deployed a variety of rhetorical devices to deliver their messages. First and foremost, the Aristotelean modes of persuasion – pathos, logos and ethos – are particularly traced in their rhetorical positions. It could be indicated that 'Vote Leave' used appeals to pathos, while 'Stronger In' relied more upon logos-driven assertions. This significant difference framed their debate and the kind of arguments both sides used (Crines, 2016). For instance, by appealing to pathos, the Leave campaign used the potential risks of Turkey joining the EU and the fear of immigration to incite a sense of dread regarding the future. Aided by a eurosceptic and sympathetic media, 'Vote Leave' was well positioned to form their narrative during the debates. On the other hand, the Remain campaign used appeals to *logos* by pointing out that Turkey was unlikely to join the EU and that Britain gained considerable economic and social benefits from EU membership. However, the Leave side declared victory because it also appealed effectively to ethos, the third of Aristotle's rhetorical devices, which is related to character and credibility. More specifically, Boris Johnson and Nigel Farage presented themselves to the audience as credible sources, constructing a public image that seemed to be likable and open, while David Cameron and his allies – such as John Major and Tony Blair – epitomized the distant establishment (Crines, 2016). The premise of this rhetorical strategy concerns to persuade the voters that your abilities and background reflect their own. Based on this, Leave campaigners demonstrated that they understood and sympathized with the electorate's concerns (Crines, 2016). On reflection, there were a number of strategies and psychological operations employed by both sides, which can explain the outcome. The Leave campaign argued repeatedly about immigration and sovereignty, the two issues that resonated most with the public, whereas the Remain side failed to convince the voters about the impacts on economy. Ultimately, the EU referendum seemed to be highly divisive, highlighting a

wide range of geographical, social and other differences in the United Kingdom.

REFERENCES

Alexander, D. (2017). Why polls seem to struggle to get it right – on elections and everything else. [online] The Conversation. Available at:

http://theconversation.com/why-polls-seem-to-struggle-to-get-it-right-on-elections-and-everything-else-73579 [Accessed 16 Jan. 2019].

Anderson, C., J. and Reichert, S. M. (1996). *Economic Benefits and Support for Membership in the E.U.: A Cross-National Analysis*. Journal of Public Policy, 15, pp. 231–249.

Api.parliament.uk. (2071). *UNITED KINGDOM AND EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES* (*Hansard*, 21 July 1971). [online] Available at: https://api.parliament.uk/historic-hansard/commons/1971/jul/21/united-kingdom-and-european-communities [Accessed 16 Jan. 2019].

Armingeon, K. and Ceka, B. (2014). *The Loss of Trust in the European Union During the Great Recession since 2007: The Role of Heuristics from the National Political System.* European Union Politics, 15, pp. 82–107.

Austin, C. (2018). *Quoting Out of Context Fallacy (Changing Meaning)*. [online] ThoughtCo. Available at: https://www.thoughtco.com/quoting-out-of-context-fallacy-250332 [Accessed 6 Feb. 2019].

Barlett, C. (2016). *Barlett, C. (2016). To Brexit or Not to Brexit: The Quick and Dirty Guide to the UK's Brexit Vote.* It's the Journey not the Destination LLC.

BBC News (2016). 2016 United Kingdom European Union membership referendum. [online] En.wikipedia.org. Available at:

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2016_United_Kingdom_European_Union_membership_r eferendum [Accessed 12 Nov. 2018].

Bennett, B. (2012). *Logically Fallacious: The Ultimate Collection of Over 300 Logical Fallacies* (Academic Edition) Paperback.

Bismarck, D., Bale, P., Bevington, M., Wager, D. and Gallagher, P. (2014). *Margaret Thatcher: the critical architect of European integration - UK in a changing Europe*. [online] UK in a changing Europe. Available at: https://ukandeu.ac.uk/margaret-thatcher-the-critical-architect-of-european-integration/ [Accessed 11 Feb. 2019].

Boomgaarden, H. G., Schuck, A.R.T., Elenbaas, M. and deVreese, C. H. (2011). *Mapping EU Attitudes: Conceptual and Empirical Dimensions of Euroscepticism and EU Support*. European Union Politics, 12, pp. 241–266.

Boyd, J. (1995). *The Essence of Winning and Losing*. [online] Airuniversity.af.edu. Available at:

https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/AUPress/Books/B_0151_Boyd_Discourse _Winning_Losing.pdf [Accessed 16 Dec. 2018].

Brown, J. A. C. (1963). *Techniques of persuasion: From propaganda to brainwashing*. Baltimore: Penguin Books.

Carey, S. (2002). *Undivided Loyalties: Is National Identity an Obstacle to European Integration?*. European Union Politics, 3, pp. 387–413.

Carl, N., Dennison, J. and Evans, G. (2018). European but not European enough: An explanation for Brexit. *European Union Politics*.

Casey, R. (1944). *The Story of Propaganda | AHA*. [online] Historians.org. Available at: https://www.historians.org/about-aha-and-membership/aha-history-and-archives/giroundtable-series/pamphlets/em-2-what-is-propaganda-(1944)/the-story-of-propaganda [Accessed 19 Feb. 2019].

Cash, B. and Duncan S. (1996). *A Response to Chancellor Kohl. A European Germany or a German Europe?*. London: The European Foundation.

Clarke, H., Goodwin, M. and Whiteley, P. (2017). Why Britain Voted for Brexit: An Individual-Level Analysis of the 2016 Referendum Vote. Parliamentary Affairs, 70(3), pp.439-464.

Clarke, H. D., Whiteley, P., Borges, W., Sanders, D., and Stewart, M. C. (2016). *Modelling the Dynamics of Support for a Right-Wing Populist Party: The Case of UKIP*. Journal of Elections, Public Opinion and Parties, 26, pp. 135–154.

Cline, A. (2018). *Fallacy of Amphiboly*. [online] ThoughtCo. Available at: https://www.thoughtco.com/fallacy-of-amphiboly-250326 [Accessed 6 Feb. 2019].

Conserva, H. (2009). *PROPAGANDA*; A Question and Answer Approach. AuthorHouse.

Crines, A. (2016). *The rhetoric of the EU Referendum campaign – EU Referendum Analysis 2016*. [online] Referendumanalysis.eu. Available at:

https://www.referendumanalysis.eu/eu-referendum-analysis-2016/section-5-campaign-and-political-communication/the-rhetoric-of-the-eu-referendum-campaign/ [Accessed 11 Jan. 2019].

Curtice, J. (2017). Why Leave Won the UK's EU Referendum. *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 55, pp.19-37.

Damer, E. (2009). *Attacking Faulty Reasoning: A Practical Guide to Fallacy-Free Arguments*. [online] Google Books. Available at: https://books.google.gr/books?id=-qZabUx0FmkC&redir_esc=y [Accessed 28 Dec. 2018].

Davies, Q. (1996). *The United Kingdom and Europe: a Conservative View*. London: Conservative Group for Europe.

Davis, R. (2017). *Euroscepticism and Opposition to British Entry into the EEC, 1955-75.* [online] Journals.openedition.org. Available at: http://journals.openedition.org/rfcb/1364 [Accessed 4 Jan. 2019].

Delviche, A. (2018). What is Propaganda Analysis? — Asking Questions — Propaganda Critic. [online] Propaganda Critic. Available at: https://propagandacritic.com/index.php/how-to-decode-propaganda/what-is-propaganda-analysis/ [Accessed 20 Dec. 2018].

Dewey, R. F. Jr. (2009). *British National Identity and Opposition to Membership of Europe*, 1961-3. The Anti-marketeers. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

En.wikipedia.org. (2016). 2016 United Kingdom European Union membership referendum. [online] Available at:

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2016_United_Kingdom_European_Union_membership_r eferendum [Accessed 16 Nov. 2018].

En.wikipedia.org. (1975). 1975 United Kingdom European Communities membership referendum. [online] Available at:

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/1975_United_Kingdom_European_Communities_membe rship_referendum [Accessed 2 Dec. 2018].

Ferrer, D. (2018). *15 Logical Fallacies You Should Know Before Getting Into a Debate*. [online] TheBestSchools.org. Available at:

https://thebestschools.org/magazine/15-logical-fallacies-know [Accessed 18 Nov. 2018].

Gabel, M. and Palmer, H. (1995). *Understanding variation in public support for European integration*. European Journal of Political Research, 27(1), pp. 3-19.

Gabel, M. and Scheve, K. (2007). *Mixed Messages: Party Dissent and Mass Opinion On European Integration*. European Union Politics, 8, pp. 37–59.

Gabel, M. and Whitten, G. D. (1997). *Economic Conditions, Economic Perceptions, and Public Support for European Integration*. Political Behavior, 19, pp. 81–96.

Gamble, A. (2003). *Between Europe and America. The Future of British Politics*. Basingstoke: Macmillan.

Garden, H. and Issues, P. (2008). *How Propaganda Works*. [online] HowStuffWorks. Available at: https://people.howstuffworks.com/propaganda.htm [Accessed 26 Nov. 2018].

Garretsen, H., Stoker, J., Soudis, D., Martin, R. and Rentfrow, P. (2018). Brexit and the relevance of regional personality traits: more psychological Openness could have swung the regional vote. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 11(1), pp.165-175.

Garry, J. (2013). *Emotions and Voting in EU Referendums*. European Union Politics, 15, pp. 235–254.

Geddes, A. (2004). The European Union and British Politics. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Gigerenzer, G. (2008). *Rationality for Mortals: How People Cope With Uncertainty*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Gonçalves, B. (2016). *Facts are Opinions too!*. [online] Medium. Available at: https://medium.com/@bgoncalves/facts-are-opinions-too-283d9d589f4d [Accessed 2 Jan. 2019].

Goodwin, M. and Heath, O. (2016). *The 2016 Referendum, Brexit and the Left Behind: An Aggregate-level Analysis of the Result.* The Political Quarterly, 87(3), pp.323-332.

Goodwin, M. and Milazzo, C. (2015). *UKIP: Inside the Campaign to Redraw the Map of British Politics*. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Hakhverdian, A., van Elsas, E., van der Brug, W. and Kuhn, T. (2013) *Euroscepticism* and *Education: A Longitudinal Study of Twelve EU Member States, 1973-2010*. European Union Politics, 14, pp. 522–541.

Hennessy, P. (2001). *The Prime Minister*. The Office and its Holders since 1945. London: Penguin Books.

Hooghe, L. and Marks, G. (2005). *Calculation, Community and Cues*. European Union Politics, 6(4), pp. 419-443.

Hooghe, L. and Marks, G. (2004). *Does Identity or Economic Rationality Drive Public Opinion on European Integration?*. Political Science and Politics, 37, pp. 415–420.

Hughes, K. (2016). *Neither tackling lies nor making the case: the Remain side*. London: Policy Studies Institute.

Ichijo, A. (2004). Scottish Nationalism and the Idea of Europe. Concepts of Europe and the Nation. Oxford: Routledge.

Inglehart, R. (1970). *Cognitive Mobilization and European Identity*. Comparative Politics, 3, pp. 45–70.

James, C. and Dan, N. (1993). *The New Propaganda: The Dictatorship of Palaver in Contemporary Politics*. New York: Longman.

Jowett, G. and O'Donnell, V. (2011). *Propaganda & persuasion*. 5th ed. SAGE Publications, Inc.

Kahneman, D. and Egan, P. (2011). Thinking, fast and slow.

Khan Academy. (2016). *American political beliefs and behaviors /Khan Academy*. [online] Available at: https://www.khanacademy.org/humanities/ap-us-government-and-politics/american-political-beliefs-and-behaviors#evaluating-public-opinion-data [Accessed 4 Feb. 2019].

Lavrakas, J. (2008). *Pseudo-Polls - SAGE Research Methods*. [online] Methods.sagepub.com. Available at: http://methods.sagepub.com/reference/encyclopedia-of-survey-research-methods/n414.xml [Accessed 4 Jan. 2019].

LeDuc, L. (2003). *The Politics of Direct Democracy: Referendums in Global Perspective*. Toronto, Broadview.

Lee, A. and Lee, E. (1939). *The fine art of rabble rousing*. New York: Institute for Propaganda Analysis, Inc.

Leighton, R. (1971). *The Labour Case Against Entry into the Common Market*. Labour Committee for Safeguards on the Common Market: Hullbridge, Essex.

MacLean, E. (1981). Between the Lines: How to detect bias and propaganda in the news and everyday life. Montreal: Black Rose Books.

Madden, D. and Keri, A. (2009). *The Mathematics Behind Polling*. [online] Internet.math.arizona.edu. Available at: http://internet.math.arizona.edu/~jwatkins/505d/Lesson_12.pdf [Accessed 30 Jan.

2019].

Mann, E. (2003). *Polling & Public Opinion: The good, the bad, and the ugly*. [online] Brookings. Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/articles/polling-public-opinion-the-good-the-bad-and-the-ugly [Accessed 10 Nov. 2018].

Marcus, G. E., Neuman, W. R. and MacKuen, M. (2000). *Affective Intelligence and Political Judgment*. Chicago, University of Chicago Press.

Marlin, R. (2011). *Propaganda and the ethics of persuasion*. 2nd ed. Peterborough: Broadview Press.

McAllister, I. and Studlar, D. (1991). Bandwagon, Underdog, or Projection? Opinion Polls and Electoral Choice in Britain, 1979-1987. *The Journal of Politics*, 53(3), pp.720-741.

McKeever, R. (2005). *Fallacies and Propaganda - TIP Sheets - Butte College*. [online] Butte.edu. Available at:

http://www.butte.edu/departments/cas/tipsheets/thinking/fallacies.html [Accessed 15 Dec. 2018].

McLaren, L. M. (2002). Public Support for the European Union: Cost/Benefit Analysis of Perceived Cultural Threat. Journal of Politics, 64, pp. 551–566.

Morgan, C. (2018). What Are the Seven Techniques of Propaganda? / Synonym. [online] Classroom.synonym.com. Available at: https://classroom.synonym.com/whatare-the-seven-techniques-of-propaganda-12080912.html [Accessed 7 Jan. 2019].

Morwitz, Vicki G.; Pluzinski, Carol (1996). *Do Polls Reflect Opinions or Do Opinions Reflect Polls?*. Journal of Consumer Research.

Mullen, A. (2016). *Leave versus Remain: the digital battle – EU Referendum Analysis* 2016. [online] Referendumanalysis.eu. Available at:

https://www.referendumanalysis.eu/eu-referendum-analysis-2016/section-7-social-media/leave-versus-remain-the-digital-battle/ [Accessed 12 Dec. 2018].

Nairn, T. (2002). Pariah. Misfortunes of the British Kingdom. London: Verso.

Neuman, W.R., Marcus, G. E., Crigler, A. N., MacKuen, M. (2007). *The Affect Effect: Dynamics of Emotion in Political Thinking and Behavior*. Chicago, University of Chicago Press.

News.bbc.co.uk. (2009). *BBC NEWS | Politics | BNP secures two European seats*. [online] Available at: http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/uk_news/politics/8088381.stm [Accessed 29 Nov. 2018].

Oliver, C. and Rawnsley, A. (2016). *Unleashing Demons: The Inside Story of Brexit by Craig Oliver – review*. [online] the Guardian. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/books/2016/oct/17/unleashing-demons-inside-story-brexit-craig-oliver-david-cameron-review [Accessed 3 Nov. 2018].

Palmer, L. and McDonald, A. (2003). *Propaganda Techniques*. [online] Web.archive.org. Available at:

https://web.archive.org/web/20090131074745/http://mason.gmu.edu:80/~amcdonal/Propaganda%20Techniques.html [Accessed 8 Nov. 2018].

Psywarrior.com. (2010). *History of PSYOP*. [online] Available at: http://www.psywarrior.com/psyhist.html [Accessed 14 Feb. 2019].

Ramsden, J. (2006). Don't Mention the War. The British and the German since 1890. London: Abacus.

Ray, L. (2003). When Parties Matter: The Conditional Influence of Party Positions on Voter Opinions about European Integration. The Journal of Politics, 65, pp. 978–994.

Resnick, P. (2008). *Hubris and Melancholy in Multinational States*, Nations and Nationalism, 14(4), pp. 789-807

Reuben, A. (2014). *Do people lie in surveys?*. [online] BBC News. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/blogs-magazine-monitor-29206289 [Accessed 1 Dec. 2018].

Richards, L. (2005). "Political Warfare Executive The Meaning, Techniques and Methods of Political Warfare". [online] Psywar.org. Available at: https://www.psywar.org/psywar/reproductions/MeanTechMethod.pdf [Accessed 9 Jan. 2019].

Ross, T. (2014). 2016 United Kingdom European Union membership referendum. [online] En.wikipedia.org. Available at:

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2016_United_Kingdom_European_Union_membership_r eferendum [Accessed 4 Feb. 2019].

Shabo, M. (2013). *Techniques of propaganda & persuasion*. Clayton: Prestwick House.

Steenbergen, M., Edwards, E. and de Vries, C. (2007). *Who's Cueing Whom? Mass—Elite Linkages and the Future of European Integration*. European Union Politics, 8, pp. 13–35.

Swanson, D. and Mancini, P. (1996). *Politics, media, and modern democracy: an international study of innovations in electoral campaigning and their consequences*. Westport, Conn: Praeger.

Thatcher, M. (1995). The Downing Street Years. London: Harper Collins.

Thacher, M. (1988). 'Speech to the College of Europe'. [online] Available at: http://www.brugesgroup.com/mediacentre/index.live?article=92 [Accessed 8 Nov. 2018].

Traugott, M. (2003). *Can We Trust the Polls?: It all depends*. [online] Brookings. Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/articles/can-we-trust-the-polls-it-all-depends [Accessed 13 Jan. 2019].

Team Ukip. (2004). *UK Independence Party (UKIP)*. [online] UK Indendence Party (UKIP). Available at: http://www.ukip.org/index.php?page=10resonstolleavetheeu [Accessed 2 Dec. 2018].

United Kingdom Independence Party (1997). United Kingdom Haemophilia Centre Directors' Organization Membership of Von Willebrand Working Party. *Haemophilia*, 3.

Voice, I. (2019). *Propaganda Techniques*. [online] - The Independent MH/CD Union Voice -. Available at: https://unitas.wordpress.com/2007/07/11/propaganda-techniques/[Accessed 2 Jan. 2019].

Volkery, C. (2009). 'The Germans Are Back!'. [online] Available at: http://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/0,1518,648,364,00.html [Accessed 25 Nov. 2018].

Wellings, B. (2012). English nationalism and euroscepticism. Oxford: Peter Lang.

Wheeler, M. (1976). Lies, damn lies, and statistics. New York: Dell Pub.

White, I. (2015). *Purdah* (*pre-election period*). [online] En.wikipedia.org. Available at: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Purdah_(pre-election_period) [Accessed 3 Feb. 2019].grgrr

Whitney, C. (2013). *Repetition in propaganda*. [online] prezi.com. Available at: https://prezi.com/lxkyzvnzfu7w/repetition-in-propaganda/ [Accessed 10 Feb. 2019].

Wring, D. (2016). From Super-Market to Orwellian Super-State: the origins and growth of newspaper scepticism – EU Referendum Analysis 2016. [online]
Referendumanalysis.eu. Available at: https://www.referendumanalysis.eu/eu-referendum-analysis-2016/section-1-context/from-super-market-to-orwellian-super-state-the-origins-and-growth-of-newspaper-scepticism/ [Accessed 17 Jan. 2019].